## IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY Digital Repository

**Retrospective Theses and Dissertations** 

Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations

1971

# An interpersonal profile of area school instructors

Henry Frederick Witt Iowa State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd Part of the Educational Administration and Supervision Commons

#### **Recommended** Citation

Witt, Henry Frederick, "An interpersonal profile of area school instructors " (1971). *Retrospective Theses and Dissertations*. 4929. https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd/4929

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations at Iowa State University Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Retrospective Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Iowa State University Digital Repository. For more information, please contact digirep@iastate.edu.



71-26,903 WITT, Henry Frederick, 1929-AN INTERPERSONAL PROFILE OF AREA SCHOOL INSTRUCTORS. Iowa State University, Ph.D., 1971 Education, administration ¥t/leave a

University Microfilms, A XEROX Company, Ann Arbor, Michigan

THIS DISSERTATION HAS BEEN MICROFILMED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED

# An interpersonal profile of area school instructors

by

#### Henry Frederick Witt

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty in Partial Fulfillment of The Requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Major Subject: Educational Administration

#### Approved:

٠.

Signature was redacted for privacy.

#### In Charge of Major Work

Signature was redacted for privacy.

#### Head of Major Area

Signature was redacted for privacy.

#### Dean of Graduate College

Iowa State University Ames, Iowa

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

•

.

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
Need for the Study	2
The Problem	4
Hypotheses	7
Definitions	10
Sources of Data	13
Delimitations of the Study	13
Organization of the Study	14
CHAPTER 2. REVIEW OF LITERATURE	15
MTAI	19
Personality	24
Attitudes	25
Junior Colleges and Personality Assessment	26
Role Concept	32
Teacher Assessment	34
The Firo Theory	37
Compatibility	43
Summary	48
CHAPTER 3. METHODOLOGY	50
Collection of Data	52
Analysis of the Data	53
CHAPTER 4. FINDINGS	55
Analysis of FIRO-B Scores (Types of Behavior)	55

٠

•

.

	Page
Types of Interpersonal Behavior	58
General Aspects of Interpretation	63
Analysis of the Hypotheses	66
CHAPTER 5. SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	84
Summary	84
Limitations	87
Conclusions	88
Discussion	94
Recommendations for Further Research	98
BIBLIOGRAPHY	101
APPENDIX	110

•

.

#### CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

Teacher effectiveness is an area of research which is concerned with relationships between the characteristics of teachers, teaching acts and their effects on the educational outcomes of teaching.

It is popularly agreed that the teacher plays an important role in the educative process, but there the unanimity ends. Little accord is obtained as to what it is that the teacher does which contributes significantly to the students' learning experience.

In the past decade, research has begun to relate certain teacher behaviors to specific consequences in the climate of the classroom and in the academic achievement of the students. The shift has been from subjective evaluations to a more objective counting of teacher-student interactions. The locution "Teacher Effectiveness" rather than "Teaching Effectiveness" is used advisedly. The present study limits its domain of investigation to the teacher as a person, his personality traits, and behavior. "Teaching Effectiveness" connotes a concern for all variables involved in the teaching situation. Those related to the teacher, as well as those dealing with instructional materials, physical facilities, administrative policies and others. Of course, a teacher does not function in isolation from the teaching situation and interpretations of the findings must be tempered by these and other sources

of invalidity.

The community college in the advancement of its purposes largely depends upon the quality of its instruction. More than 40 years ago, Koos (52, p. 23) identified "offering better instruction in those years" as one of the purposes of the junior college. Similarly in 1931, Eells cited "superior instruction" and "superior instructors" as among the reasons for having junior colleges (29, p. 202).

Since teaching is the major responsibility of junior college instructors, they are largely selected and promoted on the basis of the quality of their teaching. Consequently, although the improvement of instruction is important in any college or university, in the junior college, particular emphasis must be given to high quality teaching.

#### Need for the Study

The employment of effective community college instructors has been of great interest to educators for a long period of time. In more recent years, this problem has become prominent by the acute shortage of qualified and experienced teachers and by the rapid increase of community colleges being developed within the United States. As more and more community colleges are developed, the need for effective teachers will become very acute.

The types of beliefs, understandings, and values that

characterize a successful community college teacher have long been wanted, but never really understood. Looking at teachers in the effective role is so new in community colleges, that as yet there is not sufficient research to give direction. This need not be a deterrent, however, for there is evidence enough at least to begin designing a new technique for research that is needed. To this point, the following sources of information are available to draw upon for defining the probable dimensions of effective teaching in perceptual terms:

- Perceptual psychological theory, especially that having to do with the nature of self and fully functioning behavior.
- Research on the perceptions of good practitioners in other professions.
- 3. Research already existing.
- The experiences accumulated by thousands of teachers engaged in day to day "action research" in the classrooms.

Drawing upon these four sources, it would appear that an effective teacher is characterized in six general areas:

- A. His knowledge of the subject
- B. His frame of reference for approaching his problem
- C. His perceptions of others
- D. His perceptions of self

E. His perceptions of the process and purposes of learning

F. His perceptions of appropriate methods

Of these six areas, sections C and D are the areas of interest in this study. These are the areas that make up a persons' interpersonal behavior.

The term "interpersonal" has also been called social need and refers to relations that occur between people rather than relations in which at least one participant is inanimate. It is assumed that owing to the psychological presence of other people, interpersonal situations lead to behavior in an individual that differs from the behavior of the individual when he is not in the presence of other persons. Therefore, an interpersonal need is a requirement to establish a satisfactory relation between the individual and his human contacts.

#### The Problem

The purpose of this study was to investigate the interpersonal profile of effective instructors in the Iowa Area Community Colleges and Vocational-Technical schools. This study sought the answers to the following questions:

 What are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors in the various area colleges of Iowa?

- 2. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors different when categorized with the major academic assignments of the individual instructors? The major academic assignments being Arts and Sciences and Vocational-Technical.
  - a. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors different when categorized as to relationship to control (e) expressed?
  - b. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors different when categorized in relationship to control (w) wanted?
  - c. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors different when categorized in relationship to inclusion (e) expressed?
  - d. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors different when categorized in relationship to inclusion (w) wanted?
  - e. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors different when categorized in relationship to

affection (e) expressed?

- f. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors different when categorized in relationship to affection (w) wanted?
- 3. a. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors different when compared with beginning community college instructors in relationship to control (e) expressed?
  - b. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors different when compared with beginning community college instructors in relationship to control (w) wanted?
  - c. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors different when compared with beginning community college instructors in relationship to inclusion (e) expressed?
  - d. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors different when compared with beginning community college instructors in relationship to inclusion (w) wanted?

- e. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors different when compared with beginning community college instructors in relationship to affection (e) expressed?
- f. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors different when compared with beginning community college instructors in relationship to affection (w) wanted?

#### Hypotheses

The following null hypotheses were tested in this study:

- There is no significant difference in the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors when categorized with major teaching assignments of Arts and Sciences and Vocational-Technical education in relationship to control (e) expressed.
- 2. There is no significant difference in the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors when categorized with major teaching assignments of Arts and Sciences and Vocational-Technical education in relationship to control (w) wanted.

- x 3. There is no significant difference in the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community instructors when categorized with major teaching assignments of Arts and Sciences and Vocational-Technical education in relationship to inclusion (e) expressed.
- 4. There is no significant difference in the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors when categorized with major teaching assignments of Arts and Sciences and Vocational-Technical education in relationship to inclusion (w) wanted.
- 5. There is no significant difference in the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors when categorized with major teaching assignments of Arts and Sciences and Vocational-Technical education in relationship to affection (e) expressed.
- 6. There is no significant difference in the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors when categorized with major teaching assignments of Arts and Sciences and Vocational-Technical education in relationship to affection (w) wanted.

- 7. There is no significant difference in the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors when compared to the interpersonal relationships of beginning community college instructors in relationship to control (e) expressed.
- 8. There is no significant difference in the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors when compared to the interpersonal relationships of beginning community college instructors in relationship to control (w) wanted.
- 9. There is no significant difference in the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors when compared to the interpersonal relationships of beginning community college instructors in relationship to inclusion (e) expressed.
- 10. There is no significant difference in the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors when compared to the interpersonal relationships of beginning community college instructors in relationship to inclusion (w) wanted.

- 11. There is no significant difference in the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors when compared to the interpersonal relationships of beginning community college instructors in relationship to affection (e) expressed.
- 12. There is no significant difference in the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors when compared to the interpersonal relationships of beginning community college instructors in relationship to affection (w) wanted.

#### Definitions

For the purpose of the study selected terms were defined as follows:

- Area Community College An Area Community College should satisfy the definition of both vocational education and the first two years of college work.
- 2. Superintendent The superintendent of an Area Vocational School or an Area Community College shall be the chief administrative officer operated under the jurisdiction of a merged area board and shall be the executive officer of that board.

- 3. Director A director shall be authorized to serve in the administrative position of the director of a division of an Area Community College or of a separate attendance area and shall be administratively responsible to the superintendent.
- 4. Arts & Science That portion of the educational program of an Area Community College which is devoted to instruction yielding credits for the first two years of college work including pre-professional education.
- 5. Vocational Technical That portion of the educational program of an Area Community College which is devoted to instruction taught at a standard consistent with the quality and quantity of work needed to prepare the student for successful employment in the occupation for which instruction is being offered.
- 6. Certification and Preparation in the Field of Instruction in Area Community Colleges or Vocational-Technical Schools - An Area Community College instructor or Area Vocational school instructor must hold a certificate issued by the state board of public instruction, which is valid for teaching in such institutions. The instructor must be prepared in his respective field of education. In

Arts & Sciences, each instructor shall hold a master's degree in his principle field of instruction from an accredited graduate school. Instructors in Vocational-Technical education areas shall meet the approval standards for the fields taught as outlined in the Iowa State plan for Vocational-Education.

- 7. Effective Instructors Those instructors who were judged effective in the viewpoint of the chief administrative officers of the area college in which they were employed. To develop their listing of effective instructors, the officers of the college were asked to evaluate instructors using the following criteria:
  - a. Organizing and communicating information and skills
  - b. Creating a healthy relationship with pupils
  - c. Creating good relations within the community
  - d. Creating good relations with other teachers
  - e. Their personal evaluation ("Who would you pick to take with you if you moved to a new school?")
- Beginning Instructors Those instructors who were new to area college instruction as of the 1970-71 academic year.
- Expressed behavior The behavior an individual expresses towards others (e)
- Wanted behavior The behavior an individual wants others to express towards him (w)

#### Sources of Data

All of the data used in the study dealing with effective community college instructors were taken from the evaluative instrument FIRO-B. Personal data concerning the instructors were gathered by including along with the evaluative instrument a short check list that was filled out by each individual involved in the study.

Delimitations of the Study

This study was limited to the community college instructors within Area Vocational-Technical, and Area Community Colleges in Iowa. The instructors that were involved were those who were actively teaching within the fifteen area schools of Iowa in the fall semester of the academic 1970-71 year. These people were chosen by the chief administrative officer of the institution. A total of 138 instructors were used. The reasons for this number are two-fold: 1) Because some of the existing area community colleges are quite small, it was felt to request more than five effective instructors might be a severe limitation on the study. 2) Because of the size of some of the institutions and because of the relatively low turnover of instructors to attempt to gain more than five beginning instructors per institution could be a severe limitation.

#### Organization of the Study

This study was organized into five chapters. The first chapter includes the need for the study, the problem, hypotheses, definitions, sources of data, delimitations of the study and organization of the study. The second chapter contains a review of related literature. Chapter three explains the procedure used in the study. Chapter four contains the findings. Chapter five contains the summary, conclusions, and recommendations.

#### CHAPTER 2. REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Approaches to individual understanding through personality assessment are neither unique nor recent phenomena. Rather, they have a long history, stemming from the early Greek scholastics who attempted to measure people by categorizing them as specialized types or "humors" and continuing to our current relatively mechanized ways or modes of perceiving man (9).

Until Murray (70) proposed his individual need/environmental press concept, little attention was paid to the interactional effects of people as they function and relate to others in particular situations. The concepts of projection and observer roles had appeared earlier, but the integration of situational and personal determinants in predicting performance had not been previously emphasized.

The field of education and the people working in it, especially the faculty, have accounted for a considerable amount of research. In this area, generated by the many questions that pertain to individual performance, evaluations of teaching performances often have been interwoven with assessment of teachers' personalities. To this end multivarious measures have been employed, measures which stem from one or more theories of personality, or in many cases, from none at all. Independent ratings of both experienced and beginning instructors range from simple value judgments to

elaborate questionnaires and intricate statistical procedures which isolate a range of pertinent parameters (38).

The research has attempted to answer questions in many ways. For example, specific personality characteristics have been isolated and then plotted against estimates of future teaching success and utilized to discriminate between successful and unsuccessful individuals (18). Both general and global judgment of personality (11, p. 128) have been used to predict success, Brawer and Cohen suggest accordingly that:

Judgments of global personality may well provide preferable means for assessing both the general adjustability of teachers and teachers-in-training and their ability to integrate past experiences with present situational demands (11, p. 180).

The major criticisms of all this research, repeated over and over, deal with the lack of independent criteria upon which to base appraisal. Getzels and Jackson, in particular, point out that:

Despite the critical importance of the problem and a half-century of prodigious research effort, very little is known for certain about the nature and measurement of teacher personality, or about the relation between teacher personality and teaching effectiveness. The regrettable fact is that many of the studies so far have not produced significant results. Many others have produced only pedestrian findings. For example, it is said after the usual inventory tabulation that good teachers are friendly, cheerful, sympathetic, and morally virtuous rather than cruel, depressed, unsympathetic, and morally depraved. For what conceivable human interaction-- and teaching implies first and foremost a human interaction-- is not the better if the people involved are friendly, cheerful, sympathetic, and virtuous rather than the opposite? What is needed is not research leading to the reiteration of the self-evident but to the discovery of specific and distinctive features of teacher personality and of the effective teacher (38, p. 57).

Heil and Washburne (44) followed up the notion that certain types of teachers might be more effective with certain types of pupils. By using a variety of tests in fifty-five classrooms, some for teachers and others for pupils, as well as ratings of teachers, teachers were classified into three types:

- A. Turbulent, impulsive and variable
- B. Self-controlling, orderly and work-oriented
- C. Fearful

The pupils were divided into four types: 1) conformers; 2) opposers; 3) waiverers; 4) strivers. Most pupils made the greatest progress in mathematics and science under type A teachers and language arts under type B teachers. Type C teachers seem most effective in social studies. Certain differences in progress among pupil types were also reported; for example, waiverers grew in friendliness most with type C teachers, but did not grow with type A teachers.

Medley and Mitzel (65) administered the Edward's Personal Preference Schedule to 91 female student teachers. Several months later, pupil reactions were collected and used as a measure of pupil-teacher rapport. There were no relationships between personality and rapport scores when data from all teachers were analyzed. When the scores of all but 25 teachers were

discarded on the basis that they scored high on the consistent scale, suggesting insincere responses, certain correlations became significant. Those teachers with the best rapport scores expressed a greater need to understand others, to analyze their own motives, to be successful, to feel guilty, and accept blame when wrong.

Burkhard (12) administered Thematic Aperception Tests (TAT) to 300 female teachers in a parochial school system grades 4 to 12, with TAT evaluations processed by sequence analysis and 95 percent agreement among three judges. A total of 10,720 pupils completed ratings of the teachers on various dimensions including liking for the teachers, and teachers ability to explain. Fifty pairs of classes matched for age and IQ were selected from the highest and lowest percentiles of all classes. High ranking teachers appear to be more active, to recognize their own limitations, to be more objective and to have higher scores on similar virtues.

Flanagan (31) compared Minnesota Multi-Phasic Personality Inventory scores of 147 female teachers with ratings made in four categories of teaching effectiveness by supervisors. A high coding on hysteria (HY); was positively related to supervisor ratings of effectiveness.

Bowers and Soar (9) also found hysteria to be a useful predictor of a teaching effectiveness measure when using the MMPI, and in addition, the scales psychopathic deviate (pd),

schizophrenea (sc) and psychasthenia (pt). Flanagan concluded the MMPI has potential usefulness in aiding in the prediction of the success of teachers (31, p. 353).

#### MTAI

The most widely used instrument for the measurement of teacher attitudes has been the Minnesota Teacher Attitude Inventory (MTAI), developed by Cook, Leeds, and Callis (24) from their research on teacher attitudes toward children. It is designed to measure those attitudes of a teacher which will predict how well he will get along with pupils, his interpersonal relationships, and indirectly, how satisfied he will be with teaching as a vocation. Norms are presented for high school students, college students, teacher trainees, and experienced secondary and elementary school teachers. For preliminary tryouts on the MTAI, criterion groups were established by asking principals of seventy elementary and secondary schools to designate several teachers whom they considered to be superior and several considered inferior. Identifications were made on the bases of (1) the teachers ability to win pupil affection; (2) his fondness for children and understanding of them; and (3) his ability to maintain a desirable form of discipline.

In spite of its popularity, research with the MTAI has not always lived up to expectations (77, p. 19). However,

new studies and replications of existing research may well establish more encouraging results as, for example, those reported by Tanner (91) who noted considerable differences in expressed values between the sexes. He found that at least two of the value-areas (economic and social) seemed to describe groups of teachers who were judged to be "superior" and "inferior". And Seagoe (85), correlating student teachers' ratings with their ratings by principals of field success three years later, found that economic and aesthetic values were most highly related to rating of effectiveness. However, neither value was consistently related to the designated criterion of success.

In the same area of research are studies which made use of the MTAI test to teacher attitudes. Ellis (30) and Munro (68, p. 138) both compared MTAI scores with ratings by either principals or supervisors. Although some correlations were significant, Munro stated: "The magnitude of these coefficients ... suggests that making predictions based on MTAI scores would be an extremely hazardous undertaking (68, p. 139). Ellis concluded "...none of the factors herein considered are determinative in predicting outstanding teachers of social studies" (30, p. 28).

To these conclusions, Lawler (53) added, after comparing principal's ratings with pupil achievement, principals were not good raters of teaching efficiency (53, p. 86-88).

Lawler's conclusion was reached after comparing the academic progress of 294 fifth grade classes who were taught by 98 teachers.

The notion that experience in teaching and completion or non-completion of the requirements for certification ought to be related to measures of teaching performance, was also investigated. LuPone (57, p. 62) stated after studying 240 elementary teachers "...the permanently certified vs. provisionally certified received higher ratings in the ability to translate subject matter into living experience, proficiency in using effectively-related materials in classroom instruction an understanding and more sympathetic attitude toward the child,..."

Hawkins and Stopps (43), on the other hand, concluded that principal's training and years of experience show little significant advantage or disadvantage over either formal or informal evaluation for measuring teacher confidence, except that of greater objectivity.

Hall (41) concluded that fully certified teachers were more effective when pupil's achievement scores were used as an effectiveness criterion. Others have investigated different aspects of training in an effort to establish correlations. Freehill (34, p. 311) concluded that "the quality of teaching beyond the crucial minimum of failure is related to ability as measured by college entrance scores and academic

success. It is at least as closely related to records of social participation and attitude. The best predictor was from a scale measuring democratic attitudes. There have been many studies of the relation between attitudes measured by the MTAI and observed teacher characteristics.

In 1954, Chappell and Callis (16) attempted another replication of the same design, this time using adults. For this group of instructors, the MTAI was not significantly related to any other ratings singly or in combination. Investigators concluded there is a difference between, "teaching children" and "training adults" as conceived in a military situation.

Beamer and Ledbetter (5) examined the MTAI scores of various types of educational personnel. Subjects were 212 students enrolled in graduate courses and were subdivided into male and female, elementary and secondary school teachers, guidance workers, administrators, and inexperienced education majors. Of the experienced personnel, guidance workers have the highest mean score and administrators, the lowest. The inexperienced education majors had a higher mean score than experienced teachers; female teachers, a higher mean score than male; elementary teachers a higher mean score than secondary.

Kearney and Rocchio (50, p. 359) studied differences in MTAI scores between elementary school teachers who taught

all subjects to the same pupils and teachers who taught different pupils in various courses. The scores for the two groups were significantly different at the .01 level. The investigators explained their findings as follows:

> Teachers who have pupils for longer periods during the day are interested not only in their acquisition of subject matter but also are concerned with the pupil's whole personality, which demands knowledge of the pupil's home background, his physical and mental health, and his outside activities. Conversely, teachers of special subjects think in terms of subject matter to be covered rather than in development of a self-directing personality in their pupils.

Studies have been made to relate the attitudes measured by the MTAI to other personality variables, notably those measured by the Minnesota Multi-phasic Personality Inventory (MMPI), the Guilford-Zimmerman Temperment Survey (GZTS), and the Kuder Personal Check, Kuder Preference Record Vocational.

Cook and Medley (25) used the standardization of MTAI to identify two groups of teachers differing sharply in their attitude scores. The MMPI was administered to these two groups and 212 completed inventories were obtained, 112 representing those scoring highest and 100 from those scoring lowest on the MTAI. From the returns, they developed two new keys for the MMPI using items that discriminated significantly between teachers scoring high and teachers scoring low on the MTAI. The hostility scale reveals the type of person characterized by a dislike and a distrust of others. The pharisaic virtue scale reveals the type of person pre-

occupied with morality and ridden by fears.

In 1958, Lindgren and Patton (56) tested the hypothesis that (1) male teachers are likewise less favorably disposed than female teachers and (2) the attitudes of high school teachers are less favorable toward children and toward current educational theory and practice than the attitudes of the teachers in the lower grades. When these hypothesis were tested, both were supported at the .05 level of significance.

#### Personality

Personality appears to play an important role in the selection of candidates for the teaching profession. There have been studies that have attempted to measure and predict teaching success and the various testimonies reporting classroom observations indicate that the teacher's personality has an educative influence and that his behavior often correlates highly with the behavior of the students.

Symonds (89, p. 653) pointed out that although it had not been demonstrated that teacher personality had an appreciable effect on achievement, there were strong indications it markedly influenced pupil adjustment. "From what we know about personality, it appears that persons who are most successful as individuals will also be most successful as teachers. However, there is no one pattern of personality

that will make the best teachers and there is every reason to believe that good teachers exhibit many different kinds of personality traits."

Six general traits were described as qualifications for the good teacher:

- 1. Every teacher should like teaching. The work should enable him to gain personal goals and satisfactions.
- A good teacher should be personally secure as opposed to having predominant feelings of inferiority or inadequacy.
- 3. He must be able to identify with children.
- 4. He is emotionally stable.
- He should be free from anxiety, free to experiment, to try innovative procedures.
- He cannot be too self-centered, but able to give of himself freely.

#### Attitudes

Studies concerned with attitudes of teachers to social and political issues, to their jobs and students, were found to contribute information about teacher attitudes in general. While most of these investigations concerned teachers in areas other than higher education, the results are of interest. Social attitude scales tend to show teachers as being more liberal than members of the general public. Women generally become teachers because they like to work with young people, while men do so because they are primarily interested in a particular subject area.

A report of a 20-year sampling of teacher attitudes found that "more favorable attitudes" were expressed by elementary teachers than by secondary teachers, and attitudes distinguished between individuals rated as outstandingly good or outstandingly poor. In a study of 5,000 teachers by the NEA Research Division (71) 66 percent of the women teachers from urban areas and 74 percent of the women teachers from rural areas reported, if given a chance to start again, they would probably teach. Positive attitudes were expressed by only 33 percent of the rural men teachers and 34 percent of the urban men teachers.

In a survey of 147 members of college faculties from Ohio to the west coast, Tuttle (95), found that 9 out of 10 teachers or professors believe that their work was satisfying.

#### Junior Colleges and Personality Assessment

Medsker (66) found differences between teachers who did not adapt to the goals of the junior college and suggested that training experiences may be significant in the development of role orientations and teacher effectiveness.

Thornton (92) discovered that people involved with the junior college movement and committed to its philosophy

expected teachers to accept the purposes and philosophies of that institution, to view the roles with respect to students in broad perspectives and to be student-focused. On the other hand, those who viewed the junior college teacher in a more traditional sense, as a teacher of lower division courses preparing for further academic work; tended to expect the teachers to be less accepting of the purposes and philosophies of the junior college and to be subject rather than student-focused.

The training of "good teachers" and the introduction of new programs may be hampered by various factors. For example: Stanford students were administered a questionnaire in which they were asked to describe some of their teachers. The men were unable to do this, the women made some remarks about the teachers, but only as a teacher. Neither group was able to conceptualize the teacher as a person.

In today's world with its explosion in student numbers, its emphasis on specialized sciences, and the organization of institutions of higher education, teachers may be strangers to the students and teaching may be considered a lost art.

Parents, no doubt others, think of education primarily as a matter of taking courses, learning content, taking examinations, and getting grades. Who perpetuates this view? I'm afraid that the faculties and administrations in colleges have themselves done much to perpetuate it. Perhaps psychologists have contributed as well by treating learning as a simple accretion of more and more bits of information. Most of the

psychology of learning deals only with how content is registered and remembered. Failing to recognize that education really has more to do with unlearning, with motivation, and with relationships with teachers and with recall of facts. Perpetuation of this view has also been seen in the tasks of the teachers colleges or teacher training. Most of the training at schools of education has proceeded along the assumption that teachers are indeed transmitters of information. Therefore, skills of the peer mandatory are stressed and... a medium is emphasized, but there are few opportunities for the student-teachers or education people to become sensitive to the needs of the students. (78, p. 169)

Graduate schools pay little attention to teachers who are filling in student's time with specialized courses, assuming that if one can earn a master's degree or a doctorate, he can teach accordingly:

There is currently in American education a marked gap between the preparation sequences experienced by elementary, secondary school teachers on the one end and by senior college teachers on the other. Certification requirements for the former group demand emersion in several courses dealing with the pedagogical theory and practice. For the latter, there is no credential required other than the possession of a graduate degree in an academic discipline. There cannot be so much difference in teaching at the various levels of education that one calls for a year more of deliberate training to teach and the other calls for none. The difficulty experienced by students moving from high school to college may be in part a result of the fact that teachers at the two levels of education are selected differently, think of themselves as members of different professions, are trained differently and communicate little with one another. One preparation sequence or the other is out of pace. (19, p. 21)

Sanford (78, p. 170) pointed out the need to provide opportunities for students to accept responsibility for their personal growth and for the development and sensitivity and acceptance of self and others. These qualities, however, are not developed in isolation, but in relation to other people. We need to know much more about how they are developed and indeed whether they may be enhanced. It has been fortunate that,

... prospective teachers who lack self-actualizing qualities are not provided with the appropriate guidance and experiences to help them confront themselves as persons who need to grow in the direction of greater commitment and responsibility and involvement.

Some people, of course, need little help in this area, others need a great deal. Many teachers,

...find a transition from the passivity of being a student to the active involvement of being a teacher too demanding. They feel that it is unrealistic to be asked to take the responsibility for their actions, to exhibit genuine feelings, and to become actors in rather than reactors to life. (100, p. 473)

Beginning in the 1950's, a number of researchers have focused their attention on teacher-pupil interactions in the classroom. This was described by Bales (3), as occurring when two or more persons behaved overtly toward one another so that each receives some impression distinct enough to induce a certain reaction.

An extensive investigation by Ryans (76b) involving many elementary and secondary schools established correlations among three dimensions of teacher behavior: Friendly vs. aloof; business like vs. slip shod; and stimulating vs. dull. The data yielded high intercorrelations in elementary, but low correlations in secondary.

Reitz, Very and Guthrie (74) were interested in discovering whether descriptions of ideal teacher-student relationships offered by university teachers would be similar to descriptions of ideal therapeutic relationships made by trained therapists. An attempt was also made to discover whether content, length of teaching experience and, to some extent technique, would reflect the teacher's belief about the nature of the ideal teaching relations.

An experienced and a beginning group of teachers from six colleges within the Pennsylvania State University were asked to describe by means of a Q-sort, their conception of the ideal undergraduate teacher-student relationship. The results of this research suggested that: (1) Scores earned by experienced teachers correlated more highly with each other across the six schools studied than did scores of experienced teachers of a given college with novices within that same college. (2) Scores of experienced teachers correlated more highly among themselves. Expertness and experience were found to influence the types of relationships a teacher sets as his goals with teachers generally agreeing on the ideal teacher-student relationship. Moreover, experienced teachers agreed more closely among themselves than with therapists (35).

Emphasis should be placed on the teacher as a person, on his interests and orientations. Hall and Vincent (42, p. 377)

#### noted that if,

... the teachers who receive satisfaction from teaching are the most effective, then the assignment process itself must guarantee the teacher certain personal satisfaction on the job. This demands a tremendous amount of information about the teacher and about the kind of jobs and situation in which he finds satisfaction.

If it is true that a teacher who is growing professionally is an effective teacher, then this process must provide for him new and challenging opportunities for growth instead of deadening and boring monotony. If it is true that no one individual possesses all the characteristics and behaviors necessary for any one learning situation, but that several teachers collectively may possess them, then the assignment patterns may involve several teachers for some learning situations and groups of students, instead of one teacher for one group of students. The answers to the issues raised here are not evident now and little research is going on which is likely to throw much light on them. The present confusion, almost frustration, in attempting to define effective teaching and identify effective teachers may stem from the fact that what is known about the differences among teachers has not been applied to the teaching process, and specifically to the assignment of teachers.

The term "teaching" is still used to cover a multitude of functions, all subsumed under one name. Recently there have been efforts to describe the act of teaching in terms of role theory. The fact that "role" may be defined
from several different standpoints sometimes hampers its implementation as a working tool. In definition, role may be described as the pattern or type of behavior an individual builds according to what others expect of him. Therefore, the role of the teacher may be in terms of a classroom lecture because he expects others to see him functioning in that manner. Or he acts as a judge and distributor of fines - translated as poor or failing grades because he expects that others see the teachers as a manipulator of destiny, as a punisher of behavior falling short of expectation and as an overall judge.

#### Role Concept

Murphy (69) used the concept of role in his theory of personality describing it as a more or less fixed way of behaving forced on the individual by his culture and emphasizing the importance of role interaction.

Kelly (51, p. 97) defined role in terms of his theory of personal constructs as, "... a psychological process based upon the role players construction of aspects of the construction systems of those with whom he attempts to join in a social enterprise..." A role is an on-going pattern of behavior that follows from a person's understanding of how the others who are associating with him in his task think. In other words, a role is a position that one can play on a

certain team without even waiting for the signals.

Buxton (13) defined the academic role as a composite picture of the functions a particular person fills in his department or institution. He suggested that roles need to be established and that there is evidently much specialization of functioning by certain staff members in division of labor and responsibility. Others describe role in different ways.

Symonds (89) saw the teaching role in terms of interaction with the adults in the community as well as with students. Adult relationship roles of the teacher were defined as those of the employee subordinate to the principal, advisory to superiors, follower and leader. Pupil relationship roles of the teacher, on the other hand, were mediator of learning, disciplinarian, parent-substitute, confidant, and leader of middle class morality. Problems arising when the teacher assumes the role or behavior pattern of the therapist were also reviewed by Symonds (89). He pointed out the coincidence of the two patterns.

Both teaching and therapy are expected to lead to change in behavior or condition. In therapy the ends may be defined only generally; the individualization process, complete integration, self-actualization. In education, teaching should lead to specific behavior changes predicated on the basis of dependable objectives. Problems also develop when

college instructors teaching remedial classes find they have a role different from other instructors.

To teach a remedial-developmental course does not identify remedial teachers with higher education, whereas teaching specialized and advanced courses affords instructor's personal and profession prestige. (75, p. 170)

The feeling that teaching low achievement students is not actually college teaching implies that it is a separate kind of a role.

#### Teacher Assessment

Even though much of the research in general, and on Community Colleges in particular, has not been put to practical use, there are many potentially useful applications of teacher assessment:

- 1. Selecting teachers for initial employment
- 2. Assigning teachers to differential roles
- 3. Helping teacher candidates select themselves
- 4. Assigning students to teachers on the basis of similarities or differences in cognitive style
- 5. Selecting teachers to be retrained or otherwise assigned to different positions
- Helping to introduce innovations by choosing people most likely to accept them
- 7. Changing institutional structure and procedures
- 8. Counseling people into teaching

Stern, Stein and Bloom (87, p. 23) described the desire

to

...increase the probability that individuals being selected for participation in various kinds of institutional programs would do so with maximum efficiency and economy, both for themselves and for the institution in question.

A study by Hendrix (45, pp. 150-160) related personality measures of Community College teachers to the presence or absence of certain personnel policies and procedures rank, title, policies for securing tenure and former evaluations. Another study by Hendrix found that independent variables of rank, tenure and evaluations were related to life - record data reported by faculty members. It was concluded that the institutional policies were operative in explaining the relationship of such variables as employment status, father and mother's education, father's birthplace, varsity athletics and debate participation.

Garrison (37, p. 15) in his study of community college instructors, believes that there is still a range of issues developing around the role of the faculty in the junior college. Garrison noted that

... the impression, (indeed the conviction) deepened that the Junior College teacher is or may become a new breed of instructor in higher education, markedly different in significant ways from the usual situation of his 4-year colleagues are his conditions of instruction, his aims, and his professional and philosophical attitudes toward his tasks, not simply a post-high school instructor of grades 13 and 14. He is in his own desire and view a colleague in a new kind of

collegiate effort, as yet ill-defined and in furious flux. He is unsure of his status in the educational spectrum for he fits few traditional categories. He is aware that he is being asked to function professionally in an unprecedented situation and he is deeply concerned about this professionalism in the best sense of that term. He is the servant of several demanding masters and he is groping to bring such demands into a compatibility, a coherence that will command his loyalty and his long-range commitment.

Although the Garrison study represented considerable effort over a wide territory, little attention is devoted to the characteristics of the teachers. It was concerned with situations of that which faculty works, the time they put forth, professional requirements, but very little about them as people.

Faculty members in a community college have been classified on the basis of a sociological orientation dealing with subject matter versus disciplinarianism. Friedman (35, p. 57) described the teacher recruited from a high school position as a high schooler. Usually he had taught at the high school 5 or more years, had a masters degree, was over 35 years of age. Besides being devoted to subject matter, the high schooler generally belongs to two kinds of educational associations; teaching and academic fields societies. The disciplinarian is different from the subject matterist in terms of his orientation and beliefs. He usually holds a Doctorate, and has worked in a 4-year college or university.

Cohen and Brawer (23) conducted a study in which they attempted to relate problems of personality and its

interactions with the requirements of a teacher's occupational role. This study examined the types of candidates for junior college faculty positions and their ratings by supervisors, deans of instruction or college presidents. They hypothesized that the subjects identified as intuitive-feeling types would be rated higher as teachers than would subjects identified as sensation-think types, and that extroverted feeling subjects would be more likely to be hired for first time teacher positions than would intraverted thinking types.

The results of an examination given to each candidate of the Myers-Briggs type indicator failed to support the hypotheses; although, the correlations were in a predicted direction.

#### The Firo Theory

A theory has recently been developed which seems to be very appropriate for this study. First, it is concerned only with the behavior of people in which they consider each other. It does not include behavior of an individual when alone. It does not consider the feelings, attitudes or values of people. Therefore, the theory applies to a study of the behavior of a teacher as they teach.

Second, a phase of the theory is that behavior is relatively invariant with time. This seems related to findings mentioned previously that teacher behavior was relatively

unmodified by training and that each good teacher behaved in ways consistent with his personality.

Third, a test has been developed which purports to measure how an individual acts in interpersonal situations. Not only is it convenient to have such a test, but of greater significance is the fact that the theory states that behavior will be quite constant in all similar situations. Thus, scores from the test may enable one to predict how a particular teacher will behave in the classroom.

This theory, called Fundamental Interpersonal Relations Orientation, has been developed by Schutz and is described in his book, F.I.R.O., A Three Dimensional Theory of Interpersonal Behavior (83). In the development of the theory, Schutz built on the work of Frued, Fromm, Horney, Bion and others. He shows how the findings of these writers fit into his scheme.

F.I.R.O. theory is based on the postulate that each individual has three interpersonal need areas: inclusion, control, and affection, which are sufficient for the prediction and explanation of interpersonal behavior. Each of the three need areas is defined in terms of one's perception of other people, of the reactions desired from other people, and of one's self concept. Each need area is also defined at both the behavioral and feeling level, but the interest for this study is only in the behavioral.

Each interpersonal need is defined behaviorally as the need to establish and maintain a satisfactory relation with people. The behavioral definition for the need for inclusion is with respect to interaction and association; the need for control is with respect to control and power; while love and affection are in the affection area. These needs require that...

...the organism establish a kind of equilibrium, in three different areas, between the self and other people. In order to be anxiety-free, a person must find a comfortable behavioral relation with others with regard to the exchange of interaction, power, and love. The need is not wholly satisfied by having others respond toward the self in a particular way; nor is it wholly satisfied by acting toward others in a particular fashion. A satisfactory balance must be established and maintained. (84, p. 20)

The drive to satisfy these needs results in behavior of different types. Inclusion behavior deals with one's desire to have attention, prominence and fame with identity, commitment and participation. The person who joins clubs would be filling a strong need in this area as contrasted with the person who prefers to use his leisure time hunting by himself. Some people make themselves prominent by talking a great deal. Those who talk very little, except in a small circle of close friends, have stronger needs in the affection area. Inclusion behavior is "unlike affection in that it does not involve strong emotional attachments to individual persons. It is unlike control in that the preoccupation is with prominence, not dominance." (83, p. 20)

Control behavior refers to the decision-making process between people. Terms connoting positive control include authority, power, dominance and influence. Terms such as follower and submissive denote control behavior.

The movie star who is content to revel in her fame is expressing strong inclusion behavior as contrasted to the star who seeks a high political office. The latter is seeking responsibility, a central aspect of control. The office holder who is content to be a figure-head is seeking prominence, a quality of inclusion, while the "power behind the throne" is a man seeking dominance and influence, a quality of control.

The instrument designed to measure the interpersonal behavior just described is called FIRO-B. It contains six scales designed to measure expressed inclusion behavior  $(I_e)$ , wanted inclusion behavior  $(I_w)$ , expressed control behavior  $(C_e)$ , wanted control behavior  $(C_w)$ , expressed affection behavior  $(A_e)$ , and wanted affection behavior  $(A_w)$ . The following table represents the scheme of these interpersonal behaviors:

			I initiate interaction	n with others	
			Low	High	
	I want	High	Undersocial	Oversocial	
INCLUSION	to be	-	Social-compliant	Social-compliant	
	in-	Low	Undersocial	Oversocial	
	cluded		Countersocial	Countersocial	
			I try to control other	rs	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
			Low	High	
	I want	High	Abdicrat	Autocrat	
CONTROL	to be	-	Submissive	Submissive	
	con-	Low	Abdicrat	Autocrat /	
	trolled		Rebellious	Rebellious	
			I try to be close and	personal	
	I want		Low	High	
	others	High	Underpersonal	Overpersonal	
AFFECTION	to be close &	-	Personal-compliant	Personal-compliant	
	personal	Low	Underpersonal	Overpersonal	
	with me		Counterpersonal	Counterpersonal	

# Table 1. The scheme of interpersonal behaviors

.

Each of the six scales was developed through the use of the Guttman scaling technique by giving it to 150 subjects who were mostly college students. The results were then cross validated with about 1,500 students from Harvard and other nearby colleges.

While content validity is a property of all Guttman scales, concurrent validity is another matter. With FIRO-B the testing of concurrent validity must rest on the theory that present interpersonal behavior is related to interpersonal behavior of the past and to interpersonal behavior in all situations. Thus, studies were conducted to determine how well test scores on FIRO-B related to political attitudes, conformity, and occupations. Details of the results are available in Schutz book (84, 69-76); in passing, it is enough to mention that they give strong evidence of concurrent validity.

Other properties, including reproducibility and stability, were also measured and found to be entirely acceptable. The intercorrelations between the scales is shown in Table 2. Schutz reports that the

...correlation is small enough so that predictions about specific individuals would be somewhat hampered by reducing the number of scales. It is important to be aware of the fact that FIRO-B contains nonindependent scales... (84, p. 80)

	гe	ľw	Ce	C <sub>w</sub>	Ae	Aw		
ľe		.62	.15	.12	.45	.31		
I <sub>w</sub>			.10	.13	.49	.48		
с <sub>е</sub>				.25	.17	.00		
C <sub>w</sub>					.02	15		
Ae						.70	N=108	
Aw								

Table 2. Intercorrelations among FIRO-B scales

## Compatibility

Another of the postulates of the FIRO theory which is of interest to this study is one regarding compatibility. Compatibility is a function of the relationship between two or more persons, between an individual and a role, or between an individual and a task situation. The theory states, in effect that if an individual and the role he is playing are compatible, then less time will be spent in dealing with difficulties and more time will be devoted to the task. In other words, a person who is compatible with the role played will quite likely accomplish more than the person who is incompatible.

There are two main types of compatibility in the FIRO theory; interchange and originator, which are particularly useful in discussing the relationship between a person and the role he is to play. These concepts of compatibility may be understood by referring to the diagram below. The high interchange quadrant represents those who desire a great deal of exchange of interaction power or love.

## Desired Other to Self Behavior (wanted)

Receiver Only High Interchange Self to Other Behavior (expressed)

Low Interchange

Originator

The low interchange quadrant includes those who do not choose to initiate action nor to receive. For two persons to be compatible, they should have similar scores on the interchange diagonal.

Originator compatibility is represented by the second diagonal. A person whose scores are in the lower right quadrant is one who prefers to originate behavior in a particular interpersonal area, but not to receive such behavior. The opposite end of this diagonal represents those people who prefer to receive rather than originate behavior.

Schutz provides some examples to illustrate various types of roles as defined in the FIRO system.

	INCLUSION	AREA			
	HIGH EXPRESSED	LOW EXPRESSED			
HIGH RECEIVED	Fraternity Rushing	Recruiter			
LOW RECEIVED	Traveling Salesman	Convict			
	CONTROL A	REA			
HIGH RECEIVED	Military Officer	Follower			
LOW RECEIVED	Autocrat	Quaker			
	AFFECTION AREA				
HIGH RECEIVED	Spouse	Infant			
LOW RECEIVED	Parent of Infant	Drill			
	<u> </u>	Instructor			

Table 3. Classification of roles

To be more specific with some of the examples, fraternity rushing is a situation in which the members shower attention on the rushee who in turn is trying to impress so as to be invited to join. This cell also represents high interchange since both expressed and wanted behavior are high.

The convict is an example of low interchange since he is prohibited from associating with a group and to a lesser extent from being associated with, by the group members.

In the control area, the autocrat expects to control others and virtually prevents others from controlling him. High differentiation is represented here since the need of origination is high while the wish to receive is very low.

The infant is an example of high differentiation in which the infant receives but does not originate affection.

The theory of compatibility has also been tested through various experiments, which are reported in Schutz's book (84).

One of these measured the relationship between compatible and sociometric choices. Those who were the most compatible in the affection area tended to choose one another for roommates, while the selection of traveling companion was related to control compatibility.

In a task situation, the compatibility of groups of four people was measured and each group was assigned a number of tasks to perform. Those groups whose members were most compatible produced more than those groups which were incompatible. The same results were obtained when the experiment was repeated using different groups of men who performed problem-solving tasks.

The compatibility concept was used by Obradovic (72) in the investigation of how interpersonal factors operate in supervision. Compatibility of 79 pairs of teachers and supervisors was measured with FIRO-B and compared with changes in attitudes which occurred over a period of three months. The hypothesis that attitudes of compatible pairs of supervisors and teachers would change in the same direction was confirmed.

Hutchenson (48) studied relationships among teacher-pupil compatibility and other factors. Using FIRO-B as a measure, he tested the hypothesis that teacher-pupil compatibility was not related to such factors as sex of the pupil, socioeconomic status of the pupil, or achievement test scores. The

hypothesis was confirmed for, of 96 relationships tested, only 11 were found to be significant.

Several persons have reviewed the FIRO theory and their remarks should be noted.

Borko (8) feels that FIRO lays all psychology on the bed of theory and forces a fit. He does accept the purpose of Schutz as completely unique. Few psychologists expect to predict overt behavior solely on the basis of test scores but there is an acknowledgment that the validation data is promising and the test interesting. Berko is of the opinion it deserves use. The test of the theory will be based on the guantity of research it stimulates.

Ackerman (1, p. 360) feels the work is ambitious, but precarious.

It aspires toward a theory of behavior along a path that hopefully permits experimental verification. However, the undertaking is also a precarious one; some of its hazards are reflected in the report. The methodology is interesting. The conceptual formulation reveals some weaknesses, particularly in the areas of maintaining relations of part phenomena to the whole, and in the area of correlating the theory with clinical insights.

In general, the reviewers view the FIRO theory positively, each points to some areas regarded as weaknesses, but each agrees that the theory and the test deserve further use and exploration.

#### Summary

In summary of the review of literature and on-going experiments, individual characteristics about teachers may be examined from many points of view. While the development of personality assessment, into the field of education, brings interest in human behavior, such devices are as old as history itself. More recent efforts have been developed to appraise individuals and evaluate their effectiveness in prescribed situations.

Some of these methods of evaluation of the personalities of teachers have been primarily of a biographical nature, while others have been highly specific. More recently, investigators have moved from the specific study of the teaching act, and have turned their attention to the general traits or methods used by the teacher.

To this point, much of the research points to the fact that a good teacher is primarily a personality. He is first and foremost a person, and as such demonstrates a uniqueness and individuality that is a factor of itself.

The rationale for this investigation is based upon a two fold purpose: (1) that personality assessment of teachers in the community college will help provide an image of what the institution is like and that personality assessment will help community college arrange procedures for selection, recruitment and assignment of faculty. (2) If the community

college is to have a deliberate effect, we need to know about its people as well as its administration, buildings, and finances.

•

#### CHAPTER 3. METHODOLOGY

The sample for this investigation was drawn from the instructors who were teaching in the fifteen Area colleges of Iowa during the fall term of the 1970-1971 academic year. Ten of the Area Schools are classified as community colleges and five are classified as vocational technical colleges.

It was determined that there would be two main categories of instructors studied, with two sub-groups within each of the two main categories.

Group I would be those instructors who were judged as effective instructors in the viewpoint of the chief academic administrative offices of each area college in Iowa. Again, as a means of explanation, an effective instructor was defined as the instructor, in the viewpoint of the college officials, who received high evaluations using the following criteria:

- 1. Organizes and communicates information and skills
- 2. Creates a healthy relationship with students
- 3. Creates good relations with the community
- 4. Creates good relations with other teachers
- 5. Their personal evaluation ("Who would you take with

you if you were moving to a new school?") Group II would be composed of an equal group of instructors who were new to Area College instruction as of the 1970-1971 academic year. The sub-groups within the main categories are

made up of Arts and Science instructors and Vocational Technical instructors, within each of the main categories.

Because of the difference in the size of the area colleges, each college was requested to submit five names of effective instructors.

Once the population was determined, each institution was contacted and the names of those instructors judged effective were requested. Upon receipt of this list, these instructors were contacted and requested to participate in the study. Of the seventy-five instructors contacted, sixty-nine agreed to participate.

To develop a listing for Group II instructors, the State Department of Public Instruction was contacted for permission to utilize the results of the Iowa Professional School Employees Data Sheet (IPSEDS (49), 1970). From this list, it was possible to determine those instructors who were new to community college instruction in the fall of 1970. From this list the instructors were chosen, and these instructors were also contacted.

The final population was comprised of sixty-nine experienced community college instructors, judged effective by the chief administrative officer of their college, and sixty-nine instructors new to community college instruction in the fall of 1970, or a total population of 138 instructors.

In addition the groups also can be categorized by

program served with sixty-nine of the total being Arts and Science instructors and sixty-nine Vocational Technical instructors.

Arts and Sciences	Vocational Technical	Total
32	37	69
37	32	69
69	69	138
	Arts and Sciences 32 37 69	Arts and SciencesVocational Technical323737326969

Table 4. Category of instructors by teaching area

Within the effective group was found approximately the same numbers of Arts and Science instructors and Vocational Technical instructors. This was somewhat unusual for no attempt was made to sub-divide the groups in this manner as the colleges were asked only to list effective instructors.

When it was apparent that this was the case, the investigator attempted in developing the sample of new instructors, to arrive at approximately the same proportions in the group new to community college instruction 1970-1971.

## Collection of Data

All of the data used in this study were taken from the results of the survey instrument FIRO-B, an instrument designed specifically to measure the behavior of people in

interpersonal situations. In addition, a personal background information sheet was completed by each instructor.

## Analysis of the Data

The raw data relevant to this study were placed on code sheets and then punched and verified in IBM cards. The facilities of the Iowa State University Computation Center were utilized to analyze all the data on the 360/40 IBM computer.

To test the 12 hypotheses as presented, analysis of variance was utilized to determine whether there were significant differences between the means of the different groups. For a description of the procedure applicable to the model used, see Chapter 9 in Popham (73).

The sums of squares were used to determine the mean squares from which the values were calculated which would indicate significant differences, if they were present. This statistic was selected as the technique that would best describe the comparison of the means between the effective and new instructors, and those who taught within the Arts and Science division and those who taught within the Vocational Technical division of the various area schools. All of the hypotheses tested in the study were tested at both the 0.05 and 0.01 levels of significance. The significance levels were determined by the values of F table in Popham (73, p.

399). In the analysis of variance technique the statement of no significant difference in form is essentially the statement of no appreciable difference between the means of the variables under investigation. If the tabular F value was lower than the calculated F value, the difference was considered to be significant or highly significant depending on the level, in which case, the null hypotheses of no significant difference was rejected and a significant difference was assumed.

## CHAPTER 4. FINDINGS

The findings of this study are based on the results obtained by administering the FIRO-B to 138 instructors within the Iowa Area Colleges. These findings are discussed utilizing a number of methods. Frequency distributions, means, and standard deviations are used to describe the instructors being studied. In addition, analysis of variance used to test hypotheses and statistically evaluate the findings.

## Analysis of FIRO-B Scores (Types of Behavior)

So that a better understanding of the analysis of FIRO-B scores can be obtained, included are definitions of the interpersonal needs of an individual in the areas of Inclusion, Control and Affection. These explanations are described in Schutz's book, "The Interpersonal Underworld" (84, pp. 21-33).

1. <u>Inclusion behavior</u>: that behavior directed towards one's general social crientation. It refers to association between people. Some terms that explain this association between people in a positive manner are: associate, mingle, communicate, belong, companion, member, join. Terms that are negative in the area of inclusion are: introvert, exclusion, isolate, outsider, lonely, withdrawn, ignored.

The need to be included manifests itself as wanting to be attended to, or to attract interest and attention. In groups, people often make themselves prominent by talking a

great deal; usually, they are not interested in power or dominance, but simply prominence. The desire to belong to a fraternal organization is by no means a liking for the members or a desire for power; it is often for its prestige value. It is in the hope that people will pay attention to the person, know who he is and be able to distinguish him from others that people join groups; he must be known as a specific person with a particular identity, for he is not thus known, he cannot be attended to or have interest paid to him.

Inclusion then has to do with interacting with people, with attention, acknowledgment, being known, prominence, status, identity, anticipation. It does not involve strong emotional attachments to individual persons and the preoccupation is with prominence, not dominance.

2. <u>Control behavior</u>: Behavior that refers to the decision making process between people. Terms that show positive control would be: power, control, authority, dominance, influence, ruler, officer, leader. Terms that show negative control would be: rebellion, followers, submissive, henpecked.

The need for control manifests itself as the desire for power, authority and control over others and, therefore, over one's future. At the other end of the continuum is the need to be controlled, to have responsibility taken away. A more subtle form is the term influential. This is a person who controls others through the power he has to influence their behavior. The acquisition of money or political power is a

direct method of obtaining control over other persons. This can often involve coercion rather than other methods of influence like persuasion and example. In group behavior, the struggles to achieve high office or make suggestions that are adopted are manifestations of control behavior. In an argument, it is possible to distinguish the inclusion seeker from the control seeker in this way: the inclusion seeker wants to be one of the participants in the argument, while the control seeker wants to be the winner or on the same side as the winner. Control behavior takes many forms especially among more intellectual and polite people. Intellectual superiority often leads to control over others, so strong motivations to achieve this superiority is often largely control behavior. It also demonstrates the real capacity of the individual to be relied on for responsible jobs, a central aspect of control. Further, to do a job properly, or to rebel against the established authority structure by not doing a job properly, is control behavior. Doing a poor job is a way of going against the authority structure and showing that no one will control you. Expressions of independence and also of rebellion exemplify lack of willingness to be controlled, while compliance and taking orders indicate various degrees of accepting the control of others. However, there is no relation between an individual's behavior toward controlling others, and his

behavior toward being controlled.

Control, then differs from inclusion in that it does not require prominence. The concept of the power behind the throne is an example of a role that would fill a high control need and low inclusion need.

3. Affection behavior refers to close personal emotional feelings between two people. While inclusion and control can occur between groups of individuals, affection can occur only between pairs of people at any one time. Terms that refer to affection that are positive would be: like, positive feelings, personal, love, friendship. Terms that show negative affection would be: dislike, cool, distant, hate.

The need for affection behavior is related to becoming emotionally close. This involves, in addition to emotional attachment, the confiding of anxieties, wishes and feelings. In groups, affection behavior is characterized by friendship and differentiation between members. A common way for avoiding a close tie with any one member is to be equally friendly with all members of the group; therefore, popularity may not be affection at all, but rather inclusion.

## Types of Interpersonal Behavior

#### Inclusion types

UNDERSOCIAL: The individual tends to be introverted and withdrawn; he avoids association with others and doesn't like or accept invitations to join others. Consciously, he wants to maintain this distance between himself and others and

insists that he doesn't want to get enmeshed with people and lose his privacy. Actually, he wants others to pay attention to him, his fears are that people will ignore him and would just as soon leave him behind. This is exemplified by the person who, for one reason or another, is always late to meetings, has many conflicting engagements, or the person who precedes each visit with, "I'm sorry, but I can't stay long." His deepest anxiety, referring to the self concept, is that he is worthless.

OVERSOCIAL: The oversocial person tends toward extraversion; he seeks people incessantly and wants them to seek him out. (Like the undersocial person), he also is afraid they will ignore him, but his overt behavior is the opposite. He is the type who can't stand being alone, and all of his activities must be done in a group. His interpersonal behavior will be designed to focus attention on himself, to make people notice him, to be prominent, to be listened to. The direct method of this would be to force himself upon a group. The indirect method is to acquire status by name dropping, or asking startling questions. He may also try to acquire power (control) or try to be well liked (affection) but for the primary purpose of gaining attention.

SOCIAL: For this person, interaction with people presents no problem. He is comfortable with people and comfortable being alone. He can be a high or low participant

in a group or can take a moderate role without anxiety. He is interested in others and feels that they will include him in their activities and that they are interested in him. He has an identity and an individuality. The result of this is that he can see himself as an individual.

#### Control types

ABDICRAT: This is a person who tends toward submission and abdication of power and responsibility in his interpersonal behavior. He will gravitate toward the subordinate position where he will not have to take responsibility for making decisions and where someone else takes charge. Consciously, he wants people to relieve him of his obligations because he does not want to control others, even when he should. He fears others will not help him when he needs help and that he will be given more responsibility than he can handle. He may be a loyal lieutenant, but rarely the person who takes the responsibility for making the final decision. Subconsciously, he has the feeling that he is incapable of decision or of responsible behavior and will avoid situations in which he will feel helpless. He feels that he is incompetent, irresponsible, and perhaps even He is anxious, hostile and will use hesitance, stupid. to go along, as a usual technique or resistance since actual overt rebellion is too threatening.

AUTOCRAT: This is the person whose interpersonal behavior tends toward the dominating. He tries to dominate people and desires a power hierarchy with himself at the top, he is the power seeker, the competitor, concerned that people will not be influenced or controlled by him and that they will, in fact, dominate him. This need to control people can be displaced into other areas. Intellectual or athletic superiority allows for considerable control as does the gaining of political power. In many ways the autocrat is similar to the abdicrat; basically, he feels that he is not responsible or capable of leadership and that this fact is known to others. The result is that the autocrat will use every opportunity to disprove this feeling to others and to himself, but at the same time, there is a strong distrust that others may make decisions for him and the feeling that they don't trust him.

DEMOCRAT: For this person, power and control present no problems. He feels comfortable in giving or not giving orders or in taking or not taking orders. He feels, unconsciously that he is a capable, responsible person and that he does not need to retreat from responsibility or to prove his competencies. He feels that other people respect his competence and will trust him with decision making.

#### Affection types

UNDERPERSONAL: This type of person will avoid close personal ties with others, maintaining his relations on a distant level, and he is more comfortable when others do the same to him. Consciously, he wishes to maintain this emotional distance and frequently states a desire not to get emotionally involved; unconsciously, he seeks a satisfactory affectional relation. His fear is that no one loves him and that he won't be liked. He distrusts other's feelings toward him and has difficulty in liking people. His technique for maintaining emotional distance is to reject and avoid people even to the point of being antagonistic. The subtle technique is to appear superficially friendly to everyone which acts as a safeguard against getting close to, or personal with, any one person.

His anxiety is that he is unlovable, that people won't like him because he doesn't deserve their like or love. Basically, he feels that if people get to know him well they will discover the traits that make him so unlovable.

OVERPERSONAL: This person will attempt to become extremely close to others. Being liked is extremely important to him in his attempt to relieve his anxiety about being rejected and unlovable. The direct technique is an open attempt to gain approval, be extremely personal, intimate and confiding. The subtle technique is more manipulative, to

devour friends and subtly punish any attempts by them to establish other friendships. Again, this is much the same type of individual as the underpersonal. Both are motivated by a strong need for affection; both are accompanied by strong anxiety about ever being loved and about being unlovable and both have considerable hostility stemming from the anticipation of rejection.

PERSONAL: For this individual, close emotional relations with another person present no problem. He is comfortable in such a relationship and can also relate comfortably in a situation requiring emotional distance. It is important for him to be liked, but he can accept the fact that if he is disliked, the relationship is between himself and one other person. It does not mean to him that he is an unlovable person. He is capable of giving genuine affection and feels that he is a lovable person even to people who know him well.

# General Aspects of Interpretation

Some general suggestions for interpretation of FIRO-B scores are discussed in the material that follows. These suggestions are taken from Ryans' Clinical Interpretation of the FIRO-B, and are included to assist the reader in examining the scores received by the Iowa Area School Instruction.

- Scores range from 0 to 9 and the closer the score is to the extremes the more applicable are the following behavioral descriptions for high and low scores:
  - a. <u>A low expressed inclusion score</u> indicates a person is uncomfortable around people and will move away from them. <u>A high expressed in-</u> <u>clusion score</u> indicates a person is comfortable in contact with people and will tend to move toward people. <u>A low wanted inclusion score</u> means the person is selective with whom he associates, while <u>a high wanted inclusion score</u> means he has a strong need to belong and he accepted.
  - b. <u>A low expressed control score</u> indicates the person avoids making decisions and responsibility.
    <u>A high expressed control score</u> indicates he can and does take responsibilities of leadership.
    <u>A low wanted control score</u> suggests the person does not want others to control him or make
    decisions for him. <u>A high wanted control score</u> indicates a reluctance to make decisions and is reflective of depending needs.
  - c. <u>A low expressed affection score</u> indicates a person who is cautious about initiating close

personal relationships. <u>A high expressed</u> <u>affection score</u> suggests the person can easily become emotionally involved. <u>A low wanted</u> <u>affection score</u> indicates a person who is very selective about those with whom he will form deep relationships. <u>A high wanted affection</u> <u>score</u> describes a person who wants others to form close relationships with him.

- 2. Note the score within the 0-9 range:
  - 0 1 extremely low the person's behavior will have a compulsive quality
  - 2 -3 low scores the behavior will be noticeably characteristic
  - 4 5 borderline scores person may reveal a tendency toward the behavior described for high or low according to rest of his scores
  - 6 7 high again the behavior will be noticeably characteristic
  - 8 9 extremely high and as with 0 1 will be compulsive
- 3. Consider the general orientation within each area. The person's orientation within each area is revealed by the interaction of his expressed and wanted behavior. If the scores are similar in intensity the probability is the person behaves in ways compatible

with his needs. The greater the difference between the two scores, the greater the probability of conflict and frustration.

4. Note the interaction among the areas. The way in which a person orients himself in one area may help or hinder the interpersonal stance he assumes in other areas.

# Analysis of the Hypotheses

Twelve hypotheses were to be tested as set forth in Chapter 1 under the statement of the problem. Three questions were also to be considered. The questions, which call for conclusions, will be discussed in the final chapter. Information relevant to these questions has been obtained through the examination of the statistical findings and the judgements of the writer.

The experiment was to compare two groups of Iowa area school faculty members; one group judged effective and the other group new to community college instruction.

The data were presented by each FIRO-B variable. The six variables and the order in which they were tabled are: inclusion expressed, inclusion wanted, control expressed, control wanted, affection expressed, and affection wanted. One table for each variable was reported, the remainder of the tables for each of the four sub-groups: effective arts

and science, effective vocational technical, new arts and science, and new vocational technical appear in the tables in the appendices.

#### Inclusion expressed

As presented in Table 5, when the means, standard deviations, and frequency distributions for effective and new instructors are compared, very little difference in the means and standard deviations are evident.

In comparing frequency distributions, for the groups, some changes become evident.

If scores of 0-3 are considered as low, it is noted that twenty-five effective instructors received this score while twenty new instructors fit in the distribution of 0-3.

If a score of 6-9 is considered high, twenty effective instructors received this score, while twenty-seven new instructors scored in the 6-9 range of the distribution.

## Inclusion wanted

Table 6 presents an interesting response in the frequency distribution. Again, there is very little difference in the means and standard deviations. When a comparison of the 0-3 scores is made, it is evident that forty-six effective instructors received scores in this frequency. New instructors had forty-five instructors in this range.
	Frequency	Percentage	Summed Percentage
Composite of	f Effective Instr	uctors	
9	1	1.4	100.00
8	ī.	1.4	98.6
7	8	11.6	97.1
6	10	14.5	85.5
5	10	14.5	71.0
4	14	20.3	56.5
3	16	23.2	36.2
2	l	1.4	13.0
l	3	4.3	11.6
0	5	7.2	7.2
N 69	Mean 4.231	Standard I	Deviation 2.036
Composite of	New Instructors		
Composite of 9	New Instructors	2.9	100.00
Composite of 9 8	New Instructors 2 1	2.9 1.4	100.00 97.1
Composite of 9 8 7	New Instructors 2 1 10	2.9 1.4 14.5	100.00 97.1 95.7
Composite of 9 8 7 6	New Instructors 2 1 10 14	2.9 1.4 14.5 20.3	100.00 97.1 95.7 81.2
Composite of 9 8 7 6 5	New Instructors 2 1 10 14 14	2.9 1.4 14.5 20.3 20.3	100.00 97.1 95.7 81.2 60.9
Composite of 9 8 7 6 5 4	New Instructors 2 1 10 14 14 8	2.9 1.4 14.5 20.3 20.3 11.6	100.00 97.1 95.7 81.2 60.9 40.6
Composite of 9 8 7 6 5 4 3	New Instructors 2 1 10 14 14 8 5	2.9 1.4 14.5 20.3 20.3 11.6 7.2	100.00 97.1 95.7 81.2 60.9 40.6 29.0
Composite of 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2	New Instructors 2 1 10 14 14 8 5 8	2.9 1.4 14.5 20.3 20.3 11.6 7.2 11.6	100.00 97.1 95.7 81.2 60.9 40.6 29.0 21.7
Composite of 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1	2 1 10 14 14 8 5 8 4	2.9 1.4 14.5 20.3 20.3 11.6 7.2 11.6 5.8	100.00 97.1 95.7 81.2 60.9 40.6 29.0 21.7 10.1
Composite of 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0	2 1 10 14 14 8 5 8 4 3	2.9 1.4 14.5 20.3 20.3 11.6 7.2 11.6 5.8 4.3	100.00 97.1 95.7 81.2 60.9 40.6 29.0 21.7 10.1 4.3

-

Table 5.	FIRO-B	expressed b	ehavior of	area	college	instructors
	in the	area of inc	lusion (I_)	)		

•

Scale	Frequency	Percentage	Summed Percentage
Composite	of Effective Instr	uctors	
9	3	4.3	100.00
8	1	1.4	95.7
7	- 9	13.0	94.2
6	0		81.2
5	D.	5.8	81.2
4	6	8.7	75.1
3	4	5.8	66.7
2	3	4.3	60.9
]	10	14.5	56.5
0	29	42.0	42.0
N 69	Mean 2.463	Standard	Deviation 2.907
Composite	of New Instructors		
9	3	4.3	100.00
8	З 4	5.8	95.7
7	3	4.3	89.9
6	6	8.7	85.5
5	4	5.8	76.8
4	4	5.8	71.0
3	4	5.8	65.2
2	6	8.7	59.4
l	8	11.6	50.7
0	27	39.1	39.1
N 69	Mean 2.666	Standard	Deviation 2.957

Table 6.	FIRO-B scales of war	nted behavior of are	a college
	instructors in the	area of inclusion (I	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Considering the 6-9 range, twelve effective instructors and sixteen new instructors were within this definition.

# Control expressed

Illustrated in Table 7 are the frequency counts for new and effective instructors in the area of control expressed.

Scale	Frequency	Percentage	Summed Percentage
Composite	of Effective Instr	uctors	
9	5	7.2	100.00
8	3	4.3	92.8
7	4	5.8	88.4
6	1	1.4	82.6
5	12	17.4	81.2
4	9	13.0	63.8
3	15	21.7	50.7
2	5	7.2	29.0
1	5	7.2	21.7
0	10	14.5	14.5
N 69	Mean 3.753	Standard I	eviation 2.584
omposite (	of New Instructors		
9	4	5.8	100.00
8	4	5.8	94.2
7	2	2.9	88.4
6	6	8.7	85.5
5	8	11.6	76.8
4	11	15.9	65.2
3	10	14.5	49.3
2	8	11.6	34.8
l	6	8.7	23.2
0	10	14.5	14.5
N 69	Mean 3.681	Standard D	eviation 2.590

Table 7.	FIRO-B scales of expressed behavior of area	college
	instructors in the area of control (C)	

An examination of the table reveals little difference in means and standard deviations.

The 0-3 range contains thirty-five effective instructors, while thirty-four new instructors received scores in the low area of control expressed. When considering the high range of 6-9, thirteen effective and sixteen new instructors portrayed this trait.

### Control wanted

Indicated in Table 8 are the means and standard deviations, as well as the frequency counts for new and effective faculty members in the area of control wanted.

Analysis of the table reveals twenty-eight effective and thirty-six new instructors in the low range of 0-3. Within the 6-9 category are sixteen effective and twelve new instructors.

# Affection expressed

As frequency counts in Table 9 show, forty-nine effective and forty-five new instructors fit in the characteristics as found in the 0-3 classification. In the 6-9 range, twelve instructors in both the effective and new range received this score.

# Affection wanted

An analysis of Table 10 again shows that means and standard deviations have little difference between the two categories of effective and new instructors.

As portrayed, the 0-3 range contains sixteen effective and eighteen new instructors, while the 6-9 classification contains seventeen effective and eighteen new instructors.

Scale	Frequency	Percentage	Summed Percentage	
Composite	of Effective Instr	ructors		
9	3	4.3	100.00	
8	2	2.9	95.7	
7	5	7.2	92.8	
6	6	8.7	85.5	
5	9	13.0	76.8	
4	16	23.2	63.8	
3	9	13.0	40.6	
2	10	14.5	27.5	
l	8	11.6	13.0	
0	1	1.4	1.4	
N 69	Mean 4.029	Standard D	eviation 2.160	
Composite	of New Instructors			
9	2	2.9	100.00	
8	4	5.8	97.1	
7	3	4.3	91.3	
6	3	4.3	87.0	
5	15	21.7	82.6	
4	6	8.7	60.9	
3	17	24.6	52.2	
2	9	13.0	27.5	
1	· 7	10.1	14.5	
0	3	4.3	4.3	
N 69	Mean 3.826	Standard D	eviation 2.186	

÷

Table	8.	FIRO-B scales of wanted behavior of area college
		instructors in the area of control (C,)

	Frequency	Percentage	Summed Percentage	
composite	of Effective Instr	ructors		
9	2	2.9	100.0	
8	2	5.8	97.1	
7	3	4.3	91.3	
6	3	4.3	87.0	
5	1	1.4	82.6	
4	7	10.1	81.2	
3	36	52.2	71.0	
2	5	7.2	18.8	
ī	8	11.6	11.6	
Ō	0	0.0	0.0	
N 69	Mean 3.594	Standard 1	Deviation 1.980	
		•		
omposite	of New Instructors			
omposite	of New Instructors 2	2.9	100.0	
omposite 9 8	of New Instructors 2 5	2.9 7.2	100.0 97.1	
omposite 9 8 7	of New Instructors 2 5 2	2.9 7.2 2.9	100.0 97.1 89.9	
9 9 8 7 6	of New Instructors 2 5 2 3	2.9 7.2 2.9 4.3	100.0 97.1 89.9 87.0	
9 9 8 7 6 5	of New Instructors 2 5 2 3 4	2.9 7.2 2.9 4.3 5.8	100.0 97.1 89.9 87.0 82.6	
9 9 8 7 6 5 4	of New Instructors 2 5 2 3 4 8	2.9 7.2 2.9 4.3 5.8 11.6	100.0 97.1 89.9 87.0 82.6 76.8	
9 8 7 6 5 4 3	of New Instructors 2 5 2 3 4 8 29	2.9 7.2 2.9 4.3 5.8 11.6 42.0	100.0 97.1 89.9 87.0 82.6 76.8 65.2	
9 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2	of New Instructors 2 5 2 3 4 8 29 9	2.9 7.2 2.9 4.3 5.8 11.6 42.0 13.0	100.0 97.1 89.9 87.0 82.6 76.8 65.2 23.2	
9 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1	of New Instructors 2 5 2 3 4 8 29 9 7	2.9 7.2 2.9 4.3 5.8 11.6 42.0 13.0 10.1	100.0 97.1 89.9 87.0 82.6 76.8 65.2 23.2 10.1	
9 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0	of New Instructors 2 5 2 3 4 8 29 9 7 0	2.9 7.2 2.9 4.3 5.8 11.6 42.0 13.0 10.1 0.0	100.0 97.1 89.9 87.0 82.6 76.8 65.2 23.2 10.1 0.0	

# Table 9. FIRO-B scales of expressed behavior of area college instructors in the area of affection $(A_e)$

.

.

Scale	Scale Frequency		Summed Percentage	
Composite of	Effective Inst	tructors		
9	4	5.8	100.0	
8	6	8.7	94.2	
7	1	1.4	85.5	
6	6	8.7	84.1	
5	27	39.1	75.4	
4	9	13.0	36.2	
3	6	8.7	23.2	
2	2	2.9	14.5	
1	5	7.2	11.6	
0	3	4.3	4.3	
N 69	Mean 4.710	Standard	Deviation 2.180	
Composite of	New Instructor	<u></u>		
9	4	5.8	100.0	
8	4	5.8	94.2	
7	3	4.3	88.4	
б	7	10.1	84.1	
5	27	39.1	73.9	
4	6	8.7	34.8	
3	7	10.1	26.1	
2	3	4.3	15.9	
1	5	7.2	11.6	
0	3	4.3	4.3	
N 69	Mean 4.666	Standard	Deviation 2.170	

Table 10.	FIRO-B scales of wanted behavior of area coll	.ege
	instructors in the area of affection $(A_w)$	

In summary, characteristics as found in the tables show that the lowest scores achieved by both of the groups within the 0-3 range were in the category of inclusion wanted. In this category forty-six effective instructors and forty-five new instructors received what is considered as low scores. In affection expressed, forty-nine effective instructors and forty-five new instructors also received low scores.

	Ie	ľw	°e	C <sub>w</sub>	Ae	A W
Table of means			<u> </u>			
All Instructors	4.413	2.565	3.717	3.927	3.637	4.688
Effective Instructors	4.231	2.463	3.753	4.028	3.594	4.710
New Instructors	4.594	2.666	3.681	3.826	3.681	4.666
Effective Arts and Science	4.218	2.062	3.250	4.687	3.687	4.468
New Arts and Science	4.297	3.654	3.864	3.540	4.027	4.837
Effective Vocational Technical	4.243	2.810	4.189	3.459	3.513	4.918
New Vocational Technical	4.937	2.218	3.468	4.156	3.281	4.468
Table of Standard Dev:	iations	-				
All Instructors	2.108	2.933	2.587	2.175	2.007	2.179
Effective Instructors	2.036	2.907	2.584	2.160	1.980	2.180
New Instructors	2.162	2.957	2.590	2.186	2.032	2.178
Effective Arts and	2.057	2.838	2.783	2.364	1.911	1.999

New Arts and Science 1.929 2.976 2.732 2.188 2.199 2.520 Effective Vocational 2.018 2.920 2.311 1.779 2.035 2.306

2.357 2.869 2.397 2.137 1.736 1.676

Science

Technical

Technical

New Vocational

Table 11. Means and standard deviations of area college instructors

High scores achieved within the range of 6-9 were in the categories of inclusion expressed where twenty effective and twenty-seven new instructors received high scores. Also, in the high range were seventeen effective and eighteen new instructors in the interpersonal area of affection wanted.

Initial differences between the two main groups were determined to be non-significant by "t" tests, so analysis of variance was next utilized.

To insure that all variances would be examined, each category of FIRO-B was tested utilizing all one hundred thirty-eight scores. These scores were sub-divided into effective arts and science instructors, effective vocational technical instructors, new arts and science instructors and new vocational technical instructors. The sum of squares were used to determine the mean squares from which the "F" values were calculated, which would indicate significant differences, if they were present. Demonstrated in Table 11 is a summary of the "F" values determined by the analysis of variance. The complete analysis of variance can be found in the Appendix.

In testing the hypotheses that were presented, the book "F" will always be the same. The degrees of freedom in all variables will be one, and one hundred thirty-four. This allows a theoretical "F" value of 3.91 at the .05 level and 6.83 at the .01 level.

The null hypotheses tested were:

1. There is no significant difference in the inter personal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors when categorized with major teaching assignments of arts and science and vocational technical education in relationship to control (e) expressed. <u>The null hypothesis</u> was not rejected. The calculated "F" was 2.238.

2. There is no significant difference in the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors when categorized with major teaching assignments of arts and sciences and vocational technical education in relationship to control (w) wanted.

# The null hypothesis was rejected

The theoretical "F" value for one, and one hundred thirty-four degrees of freedom are: at the .05 level 3.91 and at the .01 level 6.83. The calculated "F" value for control wanted was 5.597. Upon further study it is noted, that there is also a significant "F" level for interaction in the variable of control wanted. When Table 13 is consulted, the reader should take note that the mean of effective vocational technical instructors was 4.1. When an examination of the arts and science instructors is made, it becomes immediately apparent that a switch has occurred in the mean of this group when compared to the mean of vocational technical instructors. For in the arts and science instructors, the

mean of effective instructors is 4.7, while the mean of new instructors is 3.5. This switch in the means is apparently what has caused the interaction to be significant, and should serve as notice to the reader that this in turn could have had an effect on determining the null hypothesis to be significant.

3. There is no significant difference in the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors when categorized with major teaching assignments of arts and sciences and vocational technical education in relationship to inclusion (e) expressed. <u>The null hypothesis</u> was not rejected. The calculated "F" value was 0.002.

4. There is no significant difference in the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors when categorized with major teaching assignments of arts and science and vocational technical education in relationship to inclusion (w) wanted. <u>The null hypothesis</u> was not rejected. The calculated "F" value was 1.105.

5. There is no significant difference in the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors when categorized with major teaching assignments of arts and science and vocational technical education in relationship to affection (e) expressed. <u>The null</u> <u>hypothesis was not rejected</u>. The calculated "F" value was 0.127.

6. There is no significant difference in the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors when categorized with major teaching assignments of arts and science and vocational technical education in relationship to affection (w) wanted. <u>The null hypothesis was</u> not rejected. The calculated "F" value was 0.717.

7. There is no significant difference in the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors when categorized with major teaching assignments of arts and science and vocational technical education in relationship to affection (e) expressed. <u>The null hypothesis</u> was not rejected. The calculated "F" value was 0.959.

8. There is no significant difference in the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors when compared to the interpersonal relationships of beginning community college instructors in relationship to control (w) wanted. <u>The null hypothesis was rejected</u>. The calculated "F" value was 4.882.

Again the reader is cautioned to examine Table 13. It is noted that there is a significant "F" level for interaction in the variable for control wanted. As is noted in Table 13, the mean for effective vocational technical instructors is 3.5 while the mean for new vocational technical instructors is 4.1. In contrast, the mean for effective arts and science instructors is 4.7 and the mean for new arts and

science instructors is 3.5. The apparent switch that has occurred in the means of these four groups has probably allowed for the interaction and the reader should be cautious when considering this hypothesis.

9. There is no significant difference in the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors when compared to the interpersonal relationships of beginning community college instructors in relationship to inclusion (e) expressed. <u>The null hypothesis was not</u> rejected. The calculated "F" value was 0.023.

10. There is no significant difference in the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors when compared to the interpersonal relationships of beginning community college instructors in relationship to inclusion (w) wanted. <u>The null hypothesis was</u> not rejected. The calculated "F" value was 1.940.

11. There is no significant difference in the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors when compared to the interpersonal relationships of beginning community college instructors in relationship to affection (e) expressed. <u>The null hypothesis was not</u> <u>rejected</u>. The calculated "F" value was 0.845.

12. There is no significant difference in the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors when compared to the interpersonal relationships

of beginning community college instructors in relationship to affection (w) wanted. <u>The null hypothesis was not</u> <u>rejected</u>. The calculated "F" value was 0.482.

Table 12. Summary of analyses of variance "F" values on FIRO-B of area school instructors

	Ie	I.w	c <sub>e</sub>	C <sub>w</sub>	Ae	A w
 Effective and	<u>-</u>	<u> </u>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<u> </u>		
new	0.023	1.940	0.959	4.822*	0.845	0.482
Arts and Science and Vocational-						
Technical	0.002	1.105	2.238	5.597*	0.127	0.717
Interaction	0.724	2.475	2.262	6.309*	0.689	1.187
Error	0.858	0.882	0.887	2.437	0.845	0.404
*	<u> </u>		<u> </u>			·

Book F1 124	Level	"F" Value	•
1,134	.05	6.83	
	.01	3.91	

The theoretical "F" values for one and one-hundredthirty-four degrees of freedom are: at the .05 level, 3.91, and at the .01 level, 6.83. Table 12 indicates the FIRO-B level for control wanted, when comparing effective and new Area School instructors, is 4.88 which shows a significant difference. In this experiment there is a significantly different behavior pattern in control wanted.

Table 12 also indicates the FIRO-B level for control wanted, when comparing Arts and Science and Vocational-

Technical instructors, is 5.59 which shows a significant difference. The experiment again suggests a significantly different behavior pattern in control wanted.

In addition, Table 12 shows a significant interaction in the FIRO-B patterns in the area of control wanted. Table 12 indicates that the "F" value for interaction is 6.30 which shows a significant difference.

As is noted in Table 13, it cannot be stated that any of the four sub-groups will have either the highest or lowest mean score in the area of control wanted.

Inspection of the table shows that the lines are not of the same relative rank; therefore, instead of being parallel, they cross over one another.

Table 13. Mean scores received by effective arts and science, effective vocational-technical, new arts and science and new vocational-technical instructors in control wanted

Vocational-Technical	4.1	4.7	
Arts and Science	3.5 New	3.5 Effective	

The effective arts and science instructors have the highest mean, while the new arts and science instructors received the lowest mean score.

Therefore, it cannot be stated that the new instructors

will receive either the highest or the lowest score, nor can this statement be made about effective instructors.

The result of this finding is that not much weight can be placed on the hypothesis concerning control wanted, because of this interaction.

# CHAPTER 5. SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS Summary

The problem of this investigation was to determine if the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective area school instructors in Iowa differed from the interpersonal behavior patterns of instructors new to teaching in the area schools of Iowa during the 1970-1971 academic year.

Data concerning the interpersonal profile of the instructors was obtained by administering the FIRO-B to onehundred-thirty-eight instructurs actively teaching in the Iowa area schools in the fall of 1970. Sixty-nine instructors in the group were judged effective instructors and sixty-nine were new to area school teaching.

When the scores of the one hundred thirty-eight instructors were received, the data were statistically treated to determine if there were any significant differences between the two groups in the areas of inclusion expressed, inclusion wanted, control expressed, control wanted, affection expressed and affection wanted.

The statistical technique, analysis of variance, was selected as the technique that best describes the comparison of the mean of the variables of the FIRO-B in relationship to the four sub-groups of instructors studied. These sub-groups were; effective arts and science instructors, effective

vocational technical instructors, new arts and science instructors and new vocational technical instructors. These scores were to be analyzed in relation to the null hypotheses.

The findings concerning these hypotheses are as follows:

1. <u>There is no significant difference</u> between effective arts and science instructors and effective vocational technical instructors in relationship to control (e) expressed.

2. <u>There is a significant difference</u> between effective arts and science instructors and effective vocational technical instructors in relationship to control (w) wanted. As was noted in Table 13, there was also a significant interaction in this statistical analysis. The mean for effective vocational technical instructors is 3.5, while the mean for new vocational technical instructors is 4.1. In contrast, the mean of effective arts and science instructors is 4.7, while the mean for new arts and science instructors is 3.5. Not much weight can be placed on this hypothesis because of the interaction.

3. <u>There is no significant difference</u> between effective arts and science instructors and effective vocational technical instructors in relationship to inclusion (e) expressed.

4. <u>There is no significant difference</u> between effective arts and science instructors and effective vocational technical instructors in relationship to inclusion (w) wanted.

5. <u>There is no significant difference</u> between effective arts and science instructors and effective vocational technical

instructors in relationship to affection (e) expressed.

6. <u>There is no significant difference</u> between effective arts and science instructors and effective vocational technical instructors in relationship to affection (w) wanted.

7. There is no significant difference between effective instructors and new instructors in their relationship to control (e) expressed.

8. <u>There is a significant difference</u> between effective and new instructors in relationship to control (w) wanted. As was noted in Table 13, there was also a significant interaction in relationship to this hypothesis. The mean for new vocational technical instructors is 4.1, while the mean for effective vocational technical instructors is 3.5. In contrast, the mean for new arts and science instructors is 3.5 and the mean for effective arts and science instructors is 4.7. This apparently allowed for the interaction and the reader should be cautious when considering this finding.

9. <u>There is no significant difference</u> between
instructors and new instructors in relationship to inclusion
(e) expressed.

10. <u>There is no significant difference</u> between effective instructors and new instructors in relationship to inclusion
(w) wanted.

11. <u>There is no significant difference</u> between effective instructors and new instructors in relationship to affection

(e) expressed.

12. <u>There is no significant difference</u> between effective instructors and new instructors in relationship to affection
(w) wanted.

# Limitations

This study was limited to one-hundred-thirty-eight instructors from the fifteen area colleges of Iowa during the fall of 1970. Sixty-nine of these instructors were adjudged, by the chief academic officers of their institutions, to be effective instructors and sixty-nine were new to area school teaching. Therefore, any conclusions drawn from this study must be limited to like groups.

The experimental portion was limited to the response of the instructors to the FIRO-B in the areas of inclusion expressed, inclusion wanted, control expressed, control wanted, affection expressed, and affection wanted. No conclusions can be drawn for any other personality areas.

This study was also limited by the fact that all the information gathered was provided by the individual instructors and their responses to FIRO-B. This would always allow an instructor to give more acceptable answers in areas where he felt some concern and, as a result, could hinder complete accuracy.

The statistical technique utilized was analysis of

variance. This technique does not provide a cause and effect relationship where significant difference occurred.

# Conclusions

The following conclusions have been organized around the questions which were posed as the problem and the hypotheses which evolved from the questions which were tested. The hypotheses which were tested were stated in the null or no difference form.

In analysis of variance, the statement of no difference in hypothesis form is basically the statement of no difference between the means of the variables being considered. If the calculated "F" exceeds the tabular "F" value, the difference was considered to be significant, in which case the null hypothesis of no difference was rejected and a significant difference was assumed.

The first question asked was: What are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors in the various area colleges of Iowa?

With the results reported, it is possible to describe the interpersonal behavior of the effective area college instructors. However to achieve a perspective for such a description, a comparison between the teacher population of this study and another population will be made. Data chosen for this comparison are shown in Table 14. The data for the

FIRO-B	School Administrators	Iowa Effective Teachers
Inclusion expressed	5.9	4.2
Inclusion wanted	4.6	2.4
Control expressed	4.7	3.7
Control wanted	5.5	4.0
Affection expressed	4.4	4.0
Affection wanted	5.1	4.7

Table 14. Mean scores of two groups on FIRO-B scales

group of school administrators which are presented are from the work of Schutz (84). While other populations were available for comparative purposes, school administrators were chosen for the following reasons. Of the available populations, only two of the groups were related to teaching. These two groups were educational administrators and teachers.

Teachers were not chosen, since they were primarily elementary and some secondary instructors. Therefore, the educational background of educational administrators and Iowa teachers would more likely be similar as each group would generally hold a master's degree or have completed work beyond the master's. Additionally, most school administrators are men, and since most Iowa area school instructors are men, this was a factor in choosing school administrators in the comparative group rather than elementary and secondary who would be a higher proportion of women.

When compared to that of Schutz's group of school administrators, the effective area school instructors are considerably lower on both of the inclusion scales. The mean of inclusion wanted is especially low. This indicates that the effective area school instructors have very little desire to be near people and will move away from people. Also, the area school instructors are very selective with whom they associate.

In the areas of control, again the means of the area school instructors are low. In the FIRO-B theory, this represents somewhat of a conflict in the personalities of these instructors. As their control expressed scores suggest, they will avoid making decisions and accepting responsibility, yet their control wanted scores indicate that they do not want others to control them or make decisions for them.

In examining the data on affection, the area school instructors are selective and cautious about forming close personal relationships with others.

In viewing these data it is important to remember that

the FIRO-B theory states that the interpersonal behavior is relatively invariant with time. Therefore, any age difference between the groups should not make a difference in their interpersonal stance.

The second question was: <u>Are the interpersonal behavior</u> patterns of effective community college instructors different when categorized with the major academic assignments of <u>individual instructors</u>? The major academic assignments were arts and science and vocational technical.

This question was sub-divided into the following questions:

a. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors different when categorized as to relationship to control (e) expressed? The results of the analysis of variance showed that there was no difference when comparing effective arts and science and effective vocational technical instructors in the area of control (e) expressed.

b. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors different when categorized in relationship to control (w) wanted? The statistical results showed a significant difference between the two categories of instructors. As has been mentioned, there was also a significant interaction in this statistical comparison of the means of the groups. Therefore, not much weight can be placed on this hypothesis because of the interaction.

· .

c. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors different when categorized in relationship to inclusion (e) expressed? A study of the tables again shows that there is no difference in the two groups of instructors.

d. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors different when categorized in relationship to inclusion (w) wanted? When considering the relationship of inclusion wanted between effective arts and science and effective vocational technical instructors no difference could be determined.

e. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors different when categorized in relationship to affection (e) expressed? Once again the analysis of variance showed that no difference exists between effective arts and science instructors and effective vocational technical instructors.

f. <u>Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective</u> <u>community college instructors different when categorized in</u> <u>relationship to affection (w) wanted</u>? No difference could be discovered when comparing the interpersonal behavior patterns of these groups in the areas of affection wanted. Question number three was: <u>Are the interpersonal behavior</u> patterns of effective community college instructors different

when compared with beginning community college instructors? This question was sub-divided into the following:

a. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors different when compared with beginning community college instructors in relationship to control (e) expressed? The "F" value in this question was such as to show no difference between the two groups of instructors in relationship to affection (e) expressed.

b. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors different when compared with beginning community college instructors in relationship to control (w) wanted? In this comparison a difference between the two groups of instructors was evident. Statistically there was a significant difference between effective and new instructors. As was mentioned before, there was also a significant interaction in this statistical comparison of the means of the groups; therefore, not much weight can be placed on this comparison because of the interaction.

c. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors different when compared with beginning community college instructors in relationship to inclusion (e) expressed? No difference was found when comparing effective and new instructors in the area of inclusion (e) expressed.

d. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective

community college instructors different when compared with beginning community college instructors in relationship to inclusion (w) wanted? No difference was found when comparing the means of these two groups.

e. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors different when compared with beginning community college instructors in relationship to affection (e) expressed? Again, no difference was found between the two groups.

f. Are the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective community college instructors different when compared with beginning community college instructors in relationship to affection (w) wanted? No statistical difference was found between the two groups in this area.

### Discussion

This study has demonstrated that the interpersonal behavior patterns of effective and new community college instructors in the area schools of Iowa are essentially the same. The interpersonal patterns as developed in this study were determined by the self reports of the instructors on the FIRO-B scale, which is based on the theories of W. C. Schutz.

It must be emphasized that a "good-bad" connotation should not be attached to the classifications of interpersonal behavior used in this study. In fact, it is suspected that both effective and ineffective instructors would be found at the very extremes of either end of the continuum of FIRO-B. However, these beliefs involve value judgements and may well be rejected by another observer.

There would be some danger involved in concluding that the FIRO-B scales would alone be a sufficient instrument for the selection of instructors for a particular position. To be sure, if it were felt that one type of teacher was always the best, regardless of other factors, the instrument would have value. However, it must be pointed out that there is no conclusive evidence that one type of teacher is always good or another type always bad. Certainly the instrument could be used to select from a group of teachers a sub-group of instructors whose degree of inclusion, control, or affection would more nearly approach a selected standard.

Since the research suggests that different kinds of personalities are suited to play different roles in the framework of teaching, then FIRO-B could be used to select instructors to fit these special roles.

Rather than employ people with ability in a particular subject matter, or on the basis of a certificate permitting instruction in a specific area, it might be better to select instructors who fit specialized roles. Such roles could be lecturer or test specialist. Since teachers differ in

interests, abilities, motivations and personal approaches, this could be worthwhile. Some instructors are most effective in large group instruction, others in small groups or in work with individuals, while others depend upon lecture, reading assignments and instructional media. By careful use of the FIRO-B and categorizing instructors into their teaching specialties, it would appear that an effective organizational structure could be developed that would have as its main purpose the development of new approaches to educational competence.

Institutions, on the basis of FIRO-B, should take the lead in suggesting that instructors take courses in human relations so that they become sensitized to their own needs, the needs of other instructors, and of their students. Sensitivity training workshops, group interactions and individual counseling sessions might improve the quality of teaching and also help the instructor better relate to himself. All of these approaches and innovations should be carefully evaluated in terms of the degree in which they enhance or decrease the potential for human growth. Such emphasis might produce people who are more self-actualizing and as a result more effective people.

While the FIRO-B can be one more tool to be utilized in the selection of instructors, the institution must also carefully define its philosophy and goals. It is only when a

faculty can objectively define itself that the institution can build programs and select instructors who can accept the goals of the institution, rather than adapt to them. If teachers can readily accept the objectives of the institution and if the goals are consistent with the instructors personality patterns then these instructors would be in a satisfactory interpersonal position to better instruct students.

One may reject the idea that interpersonal behavior is necessarily invariant with time and hypothesize that it can be changed. In this event there are implications for teacher training, pre-service and in-service. Therefore, if change in the climate of the classroom is wanted, it becomes necessary to deal with the teacher in ways which will cause change in the interpersonal relationships of the teacher. Such recommendations must be based on the decisions regarding quality teaching.

There are many practical and potentially useful applications of teacher assessment, that could have a beneficial effect upon the students who attend area colleges. These applications could have implications in the following areas:

1. Groups of teachers, with pre-determined personality traits could be selected from larger groups of instructors.

For example, team teaching may be a way of encouraging instructors to further develop their personalities, fulfill

their own needs and bring about change in the students through instruction. To accomplish these ends it may be best to select instructors who complement the interpersonal needs of the other team members. The use of the FIRO-B would be an excellent method of determining the needs of the team members and also of selecting other members who would be compatible to the team.

2. Helping to introduce innovations by selecting people most likely to accept these new methods.

3. Assigning students to teachers on the basis of similarities or differences in interpersonal needs.

4. Selecting instructors to be retrained or otherwise assigned to positions of leadership within the colleges.

5. Helping students entering college make choices of possible educational or vocational goals.

### Recommendations for Further Research

This experiment could be replicated in an attempt to validate the findings. However, the writer believes that the following changes in the experiment would make it more significant and of greater research value:

1. Increase the scope of the experiment to include community colleges from outside the state of Iowa. Since all of the area schools of Iowa are relatively young, it would be possible to examine the interpersonal behavior patterns of

instructors in colleges that have been in existence for a longer period of time and perhaps have made adjustments in the type of person being selected for employment in the colleges.

2. Include in the investigation, a personal interview with selected members of faculties who have taken the FIRO-B, to question them about their feelings concerning the FIRO-B.

3. Include additional groups into the study, in particular, faculty members from private community colleges and junior colleges, and faculty from senior institutions, in particular those members of senior institutions who instruct students in the first two years of their collegiate education.

4. Broaden the scope of the investigation to include those high schools that are following a more innovative curriculum. This would allow a study to determine if these types of institutions are selecting for their faculties, people with different interpersonal stances than community colleges.

5. Utilize both a pre-test and post-test of the FIRO-B to determine if the interpersonal behavior patterns of faculty participating in human relations workshops, do indeed change as a result of the workshops.

6. Utilize the FIRO-B to determine the significance of the FIRO-B with some of the global characteristics that have

been identified with successful or effective teachers. Examples of these comparisons might be; First born; participation in volunteer teaching, prior to entering professional teaching, Rural background, one of the parents teaching and activity in competitive athletics.

7. Develop a longitudinal study where a population of entering community college instructors are tested with FIRO-B. Then at a specified period of time check the FIRO scores with those people who have been judged as effective instructors with those instructors who have left the ranks of instruction and have been judged failures. This would give a base from which to study the interpersonal behavior patterns of those instructors who are judged effective, and those who are judged failures.

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Ackerman, N. W. Review of W. C. Schutz. International Journal of Group Psychotherapy 10: 360. 1960.
- Amidon, Edmund J. and Flanders, Ned A. The role of the teacher in the classroom: A manual for understanding and improving teachers' classroom behavior. Minneapolis, Minn., Paul S. Amidon and Associates. 1963.
- Bales, Robert F. Interaction process analysis. Cambridge, Mass., Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, Inc. 1950.
- 4. Barr, A. S. The measurement and prediction of teaching efficiency: A summary of investigations. Journal of Experimental Education 16: 203-282. June 1948.
- 5. Beamer, G. C. and Ledbetter, Elaine W. The relation between teacher attitudes and the social service interest. Journal Educational Research 50: 655-656. 1957.
- Biddle, Bruce J. and Ellena, William J., editors. Contemporary research on teacher effectiveness. New York, N.Y., Holt. 1964.
- Blocker, Clyde E. The two year college: a social syntheses. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey, Prentice-Hall, Inc. 1965.
- 8. Borko, H. Review of W. C. Schutz. Educational and Psychological Measurement 20: 210-211. 1960.
- 9. Bowers, N. D. and Soar, Robert S. Studies of human relations in the teaching-learning process. Part V: Final Report. USOE Cooperative Research Project No. 469: 210. 1961.
- 10. Brawer, Florence B. The concept of ego strength and its measurement through a word association technique. Dissertation Abstracts 28: 1699-A. 1967.
- 11. Brawer, Florence and Cohen, Arthur M. Global and sign approaches to Rorschach assessment of beginning teachers. Journal of Projective Techniques and Personality Assessment 30: 6. 1966.

- 12. Burkhard, M. I. Discernment of teacher characteristics by TAT sequence analysis. Journal Educational Psychology 53: 279-287. 1962.
- 13. Buxton, Claude E. College teaching: a psychologists view. New York, Harcourt Brace and Co. 1956.
- 14. Callis, R. The efficiency of the Minnesota Teacher Attitude Inventory for Predicting Interpersonal Relations in the classroom. Journal of Applied Psychology 37: 82-85. 1953.
- Caplow, Theodore and McGee, Reese. The academic marketplace. New York; Basic Books, Inc. 1958.
- 16. Chappell, T. L. and Callis, R. The efficiency of the Minnesota Teachers Attitude Inventory for Predicting Interpersonal Relations in a naval school. Columbia (University of Missouri) Report No. 5 ONR 649(00). 1954.
- 17. Clinton, R. J. Qualities college students desire in college instructors. School and Society 32: 702. 1930.
- 18. Coffman, W. E. Determining students' concepts of effective teaching from their ratings of instructors. Journal of Educational Psychology 45: 19. May 1954.
- 19. Cohen, Arthur M. Defining instructional objectives. Systems Approaches to Curriculum and Instruction in the Open-Door College. Junior College Leadership Program (Los Angeles: University of California, School of Education) Occasional Report No. 9. 1967.
- 20. Cohen, Arthur M. Focus on Learning: Preparing Teachers for the Two-Year College. Junior College Leadership Program (Los Angeles, University of California, School of Education) Occasional Report No. 11. March 1968.
- 21. Cohen, Arthur M. Teach toward measurable objectives. Improving College and University Teaching 14: 246-248. Autumn 1966.
- 22. Cohen, Arthur M. Teacher preparation: Rationale and practice. Junior College Journal 37: 21-25. May 1967.

- 23. Cohen, Arthur M. and Brawer, Florence B. Adaptive potential and first year teaching success. Journal of Teacher Education 18: 179-185. Summer 1967.
- 24. Cook, W. W., Leeds, C. H., and Callis, R. The Minnesota Teacher Attitude Inventory. New York, Psychological Corp. 1951.
- 25. Cook, W. W. and Medley, D. M. Proposed hostility and pharisaic virtue scales for the MMPI. Journal of Applied Psychology 38: 414-418. 1954.
- 26. Domans, S. J. and Tiedeman, D. V. Teacher competence: An annotated bibliography. Journal of Experimental Education 19: 101-218. December 1950.
- 27. Dressel, P. Research in general education instruction. Washington, D.C. Association for High Education, a Department of the National Education Association. 1955.
- 28. Eckert, R. E. and Stecklien, J. E. An exploratory study of factors influencing the choice of college teaching as a career. Minneapolis, University of Minnesota. 1958.
- 29. Eells, Walter Crosby. The Junior College. Boston, Houghton Mifflin Co. 1931.
- 30. Ellis, J. R. Relationships between aspects of preparation and measures of a performance of secondary teachers of the social studies. Journal of Educational Research 55: 24-28. 1961.
- 31. Flanagan, D. E. A study of the relationship of scores on the MMPI to success in teaching as indicated by supervisory ratings. Journal of Experimental Education 29: 329-354.
- 32. Flanders, Ned A. Teacher influence, pupil attitudes, and achievement. Cooperative Research (Minneapolis: University of Minnesota) Project No. 397. 1960.
- 33. Flanders, Ned A. and Amidon, Edmund J. Two approaches to the teaching process. NEA Journal 51: 43-45. May 1962.
- 34. Freehill, M. F. The prediction of teaching competence. Journal of Experimental Education 31: 307-311. 1963.
- 35. Friedman, Norman L. Career stages and organizational role decisions of teachers in two public junior colleges. Osciology of Education 40: 231-245. Summer 1967.
- 36. Gage, N. L., editor. Handbook of research on teaching. Chicago, Rand McNally and Company. 1963.
- 37. Garrison, Roger H. Junior College Faculty: Issues and Problems; A Preliminary National Appraisal. Washington, D.C., American Association of Junior Colleges. 1967.
- 38. Getzels, J. W. and Jackson, P. W. The teacher's personality and characteristics. Handbook of Research on Teaching. Chicago, Rand McNally and Co. 1963.
- 39. Gleazer, Edmund J., Jr. Concerns and cautions for community colleges. Junior College Journal 38: 18-21. March 1968.
- 40. Guba, E. G. and Getzels, J. W. Personality and teacher effectiveness: A problem in theoretical research. Journal of Educational Psychology 46: 330-344. 1955.
- 41. Hall, H. O. Professional preparation and teacher effectiveness. Journal of Teacher Education 15: 72-76. 1964.
- 42. Hall, Roy M. and Vincent, Antonio M. Staff-selection and appointment. Encyclopedia of Educational Research. New York, Macmillan Co. 1960.
- 43. Hawkins, E. E. and Stopps, E. Objective and subjective identification of outstanding elementary teachers. Journal of Educational Research 59: 344-346. 1962.
- 44. Heil, L. M., and Washburne, C. Characteristics of teachers related to childrens progress. Journal of Teacher Education 12: 401-406. 1961.
- 45. Hendrix, Vernon L. Relationships between personnel policies and faculty live-record data in public junior colleges. California Journal of Educational Research 15: 150-160. May 1964.

- 46. Hendrix, Vernon L. Relationships between personnel policies and faculty personality characteristics in public junior colleges. California Journal of Educational Research 15: 34-43. January 1964.
- 47. Hunter, Elwood C. Attitudes and professional relationships of teachers: A study of teacher morale. Journal of Experimental Education 23: 345-352. June 1955.
- 48. Hutchenson, Donald E. Relationships among teachers pupil compatibility, social studies grades, and selected factors. Dissertation Abstracts 24, 12, 5194. 1961.
- 49. Iowa State Department of Public Instruction. Iowa Professional School Employee Data Sheet. Des Moines, Iowa, State of Iowa, Department of Public Instruction. November 1970.
- 50. Kearney, N. C. and Rocchio, P. D. The relation between the Minnesota Teacher Attitude Inventory and subject matter taught by elementary teachers. Education Admin. Superv. 41: 358-360. 1955.
- 51. Kelly, G. A. The psychology of personal constructs. New York, Norton. 1955.
- 52. Koos, Leonard V. The Junior College Movement. Boston, Genn and Company. 1952.
- 53. Lawler, E. S. Differing rates of progress of classes under the same and different teachers. Journal of Educational Research 58: 84-86. 1964.
- 54. Leavitt, Jerome E. Personnel data and prediction of success of student teachers. Journal of Teacher Education 4: 194-197. September 1953.
- 55. Leeds, C. H. A scale for measuring teacher-pupil attitudes and teacher-pupil rapport. Psychological Monography 64: 6. 1950.
- 56. Lindgren, H. C. and Patton, Gladys M. Attitudes of high school and other teachers toward children and current educational methodology. California Journal of Educational Research 9: 80-85. 1958.

- 57. LuPone, O. J. A comparison of provisionally certified and permanently certified elementary school teachers in selected school districts in New York state. J. Ed. Res. 55: 53-63. 1961.
- 58. Maslow, A. H. Motivation and Personality. New York, Harper and Row. 1950.
- 59. Maslow, A. H. and Zimmerman, W. College teaching ability, scholarly activity and personality. Journal of Educational Psychology 47: 185-189. 1956.
- 60. McKeachie, W. J. Research on teaching at the college and university level. Handbook of Research on teaching. Chicago, Rand McNally and Co. 1963.
- 61. McKeachie, W. J. Student affiliation motives, teacher warmth, and academic achievement. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 4: 457-461. October 1966.
- 62. McKinley, J. C., Hathaway, S. R., and Meehl, P. E. The K Scale. Basic Readings on the MMPI in Psychology and Medicine. Minneapolis, University of Minnesota Press. 1956.
- 63. Medley, Donald M. Some behavioral correlates of teacher effectiveness. Journal of Educational Psychology 50: 239-246. December 1959.
- 64. Medley, Donald M. Teacher personality and teacherpupil rapport. Journal of Teacher Education 12: 152-156. 1961.
- 65. Medley, Donald M. and Mitzel, Harold E. Measuring classroom behavior by systematic observation. Handbook of Research on Teaching. Chicago, Rand McNally and Co. 1963.
- 66. Medsker, Leland L. The junior college: Progress and prospect. New York, McGraw-Hill Book Co. 1960.
- 67. Morsh, J. E. and Wilder, Eleanor W. Identifying the effective instructor: A review of the quantitative studies, 1900-1952. USAF Personnel Training Research Center Research Bulletin No. AFPTRC-TR-54-44. 1954.

- 68. Munro, B. C. Minnesota Teacher Attitude Inventory as a predictor of teaching success. Journal of Educational Research 58: 138-139. 1964.
- 69. Murphy, G. Personality A biosocial approach to origins and structures. New York, Harper. 1947.
- 70. Murray, H. A. Explorations in personality. New York, Oxford University Press. 1938.
- 71. National Education Association. Research Division. The teacher looks at personnel administration. NEA Research Bulletin 23: 93-147. December 1945.
- 72. Obradovic, Sylvia M. Interpersonal factors in the supervisor teacher relationship. Index to American Doctoral Dissertations, p. 61. 1961-1962.
- 73. Popham, James W. Educational statistics. New York, New York, Harper and Row. 1967.
- 74. Reitz, Willard E., Very, Phillip S., and Guthrie, George M. Experience, expertness, and ideal teaching relationships. Educational and Psychological measurement 25: 1051-1060. Winter, 1965.
- 75. Roueche, John E. Salvage, redirection or custody? ERIC Clearinghouse for Junior College Information Monograph No. 1. Washington, D.C.: American Association of Junior Colleges. ED 019 077. 1968.
- 76a. Ryan, Leo Robert. Clinical Interpretation of the FIRO-B. Consulting Psychologists Press Inc. Palo, Alto, California.
- 76b. Ryans, David G. Characteristics of teachers: Their description, comparison, and appraisal. Washington, D.C., American Council on Education. 1960.
- 77. Sandgren, D. L. and Schmidt, L. G. Does practice teaching change attitudes toward teaching? Journal of Educational Research 49: 673-680. 1956.
- 78. Sanford, Nevitt, editor. The American College: A Psychological and social interpretation of higher learning. New York, John Wiley and Sons, Inc. 1962.
- 79. Sanford, Nevitt, editor. Higher education as a field of study. The American College: A Psychological and Social Interpretation of Higher Learning. New York, John Wiley and Sons, Inc. 1962.

- 80. Sanford, Nevitt, editor. Implications of personality studies for curriculum and personnel planning. Personality Factors on the College Campus. Austin, University of Texas, The Hogg Foundation. 1962.
- 81. Sanford, Nevitt, editor. Self and society. New York, Atherton Press. 1966.
- 82. Sanford, Nevitt, editor. Where colleges fail. San Francisco, Jossey-Bass, Inc. 1967.
- 83. Schutz, William C. FIRO-B, A three-dimensional theory of interpersonal behavior. New York, Rinehart and Co. 1958.
- 84. Schutz, William C. The interpersonal underworld. Palo Alto, Calif., Science and Behavior Books, Inc. 1966.
- 85. Seagoe, May V. Prediction of in-service success in teaching. Journal of Educational Research 39: 658-663. 1946.
- 86. Sheldon, M. Stephen, Coale, Jack M., and Copple, Rockne. Concurrent validity of the 'Warm Teacher' scales. Journal of Educational Psychology 50: 37-40. February 1959.
- 87. Stern, G. G., Stein, M. I., and Bloom, B. S. Methods in personality assessment. Glencoe, Ill., The Free Press. 1956.
- 88. Sullivan, H. S. The interpersonal theory of psychiatry. New York, Norton. 1953.
- 89. Symonds, Percival. Personality of the teacher. Journal of Educational Research 40: 652-661. May 1947.
- 90. Symonds, Percival. Teaching as a function of the teacher's personality. Journal of Teacher Education 5: 79-83. March 1954.
- 91. Tanner, William C., Jr. Personality bases in teacher selection. Phi Delta Kappan 35: 271-277. April 1954.

- 92. Thornton, J. W. The community junior college. Second edition. New York, John Wiley and Sons, Inc. 1966.
- 93. Torrance, E. Paul. The creative personality and the ideal pupil. Teachers College Record 65: 220-226. December 1963.
- 94. Trabue, M. R. Characteristics of college instructors desired by liberal arts college presidents. Association of American Colleges Bulletin 36: 374-379. October 1950.
- 95. Tuttle, Harold S. Profile of processors. Educational Forum 20: 313-318, March 1956.
- 96. Tyler, Ralph W. New dimensions in curriculum development. Phi Delta Kappan 48: 25-28. September 1966.
- 97. Very, Philip S. and Dye, Neal W. Conceptualizations of the college teacher. Perceptual and Motor Skills 22: 889-890. June 1966.
- 98. Wallen, N. E. and Travers, R. M. W. Analysis and Investigation of Teaching Methods. Handbook of Research on Teaching. Chicago, Rand McNally. 1963.
- 99. Wert, James E., Ahmann, J. Stanley, Neidt, Charles O. Statistical methods in education and psychological research. New York, Appleton-Century Crofts, Inc. 1964.
- 100. Will, Richard Y. The education of the teacher as a person. Journal of Teacher Education 18: 471-475. Winter 1967.

## APPENDIX

Scale	Frequency	Percentage	Summed Percentage
Effective Ar	ts and Science I	nstructors	
9	1	3.1	100.0
8	0	0.0	96.9
7	4	12.5	96.9
6	3	9.4	84.4
5	6	18.8	75.0
4	6	18.8	56.3
3	8	25.0	37.5
2	0	0.0	12.5
1	2	6.3	12.5
U	2	6.3	6.3
NT 20	Mean $A$ 218	Standard D	oristion 2 057
N 32	Medii 4.210	Scandard D	
N 32	cational Technica	al Instructors	eviation 2.037
N 32 Effective Vo 9	cational Technica	al Instructors 0.0	100.0
N 32 Effective Vo 9 8	cational Technica 0 1	0.0 2.7	100.0 100.0
N 32 Effective Vo 9 8 7	cational Technica 0 1 4	0.0 2.7 10.8	100.0 100.0 97.3
N 32 Effective Vo 9 8 7 6	cational Technica 0 1 4 7	0.0 2.7 10.8 18.9	100.0 100.0 97.3 86.5
N 32 Sffective Vo 9 8 7 6 5	cational Technica 0 1 4 7 4	0.0 2.7 10.8 18.9 10.8	100.0 100.0 97.3 86.5 67.6
N 32 <u>Sffective Vo</u> 9 8 7 6 5 4	cational Technica 0 1 4 7 4 8	0.0 2.7 10.8 18.9 10.8 21.6	100.0 100.0 97.3 86.5 67.6 56.8
N 32 <u>Sffective Vo</u> 9 8 7 6 5 4 3	cational Technica 0 1 4 7 4 8 8	0.0 2.7 10.8 18.9 10.8 21.6 21.6	100.0 100.0 97.3 86.5 67.6 56.8 35.1
N 32 Sffective Vo 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2	cational Technica 0 1 4 7 4 8 8 1	0.0 2.7 10.8 18.9 10.8 21.6 21.6 21.6 2.7	100.0 100.0 97.3 86.5 67.6 56.8 35.1 13.5
N 32 Sffective Vo 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0	Cational Technica 0 1 4 7 4 8 8 8 1 1	0.0 2.7 10.8 18.9 10.8 21.6 21.6 2.7 2.7	100.0 100.0 97.3 86.5 67.6 56.8 35.1 13.5 10.8
N 32 Sffective Vo 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0	cational Technica 0 1 4 7 4 8 8 8 1 1 3	0.0 2.7 10.8 18.9 10.8 21.6 21.6 2.7 2.7 8.1	100.0 100.0 97.3 86.5 67.6 56.8 35.1 13.5 10.8 8.1

Table 15.	FIRO-B scales - expressed behavior of area college
	instructors in the area of inclusion $(I_e)$

Scale	Frequency	Percentage	Summed Percentage
New Arts and	Science Instru	ctors	
9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0	0 0 5 6 9 5 4 4 3 1	0.0 0.0 13.5 16.2 24.3 13.5 10.8 10.8 8.1 2.7	100.0 100.0 100.0 86.5 70.3 45.9 32.4 21.6 10.8 2.7
N 37 New Vocationa	Mean 4.297 al_Technical Ins	Standard	Deviation 1.929
9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0	2 1 5 8 5 3 1 4 1 2	6.3 3.1 15.6 25.0 15.6 9.4 3.1 12.5 3.1 6.3	100.0 93.8 90.6 75.0 50.0 34.4 25.0 21.9 9.4 6.3
N 32	Mean 4.937	Standard	Deviation 2.357

Table 15 (Continued)

Scale	Frequency	Percentage	Summed Percentage
Effective .	Arts and Science	Instructors	
9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0	2 0 3 0 1 2 2 1 6 15	6.3 0.0 9.4 0.0 3.1 6.3 6.3 3.1 18.8 46.9	100.0 93.8 93.8 84.4 84.4 81.3 75.0 68.8 65.6 46.9
N 32	Mean 2.062	Standard D	eviation 2.838
Effective V	Ocational Techni	cal Instructors	
9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0	1 6 0 3 4 2 2 4 14	2.7 2.7 16.2 0.0 8.1 10.8 5.4 5.4 10.8 37.8	100.0 97.3 94.6 78.4 78.4 70.3 59.5 54.1 48.6 37.8
N 37	Mean 2.810	Standard D	eviation 2.920

Table ]	16.	FIRO-B scales - wanted behavior of area college
		instructors in the area of inclusion $(I_w)$

Scale	Frequency	Percentage	Summed Percentage
New Arts and	l Science Instru	ctors	
9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0	1 3 2 5 2 2 3 2 5 12	2.7 8.1 5.4 13.5 5.4 5.4 8.1 5.4 13.5 32.4	100.0 97.3 89.2 83.8 70.3 64.9 59.5 51.4 45.9 32.4
N 37 <u>New Vocation</u>	Mean 3.054 al Technical Ins	Standard De structors	viation 2.976
9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0	2 1 1 2 2 1 4 3 15	6.3 3.1 3.1 3.1 6.3 6.3 3.1 12.5 9.4 46.9	100.0 93.8 90.6 87.5 84.4 78.1 71.9 68.8 56.3 46.9
N 32	Mean 2.218	Standard De	viation 2.869

Table 16 (Continued)

Scale	Frequency	Percentage	Summed Percentage
Effective	Vocational Technical	Instructors	
9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0	2 2 3 0 9 6 9 2 0 4	5.4 5.4 8.1 0.0 24.3 16.2 24.3 5.4 0.0 10.8	100.0 94.6 89.2 81.1 81.1 56.8 40.5 16.2 10.8 10.8
N 37	Mean 4.189	Standard	Deviation 2.311
Effective	Arts and Science Inst	ructors	
9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0	3 1 1 3 3 6 3 5 6	9.4 3.1 3.1 9.4 9.4 18.8 9.4 15.6 18.8	100.0 90.6 87.5 84.4 81.3 71.9 62.5 43.8 34.4 8.8
N 32	Mean 3.250	Standard	Deviation 2.783

Table 17.	FIRO-B scales - expressed behavior	of area	college
	instructors in the area of control	(C <sub>e</sub> )	

Sc	ale	Frequency	Percentage	Summed Percentage
New A	rts a	nd Science Instruc	tors	
	9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1	3 2 1 5 3 6 4 5 2	8.1 5.4 2.7 13.5 8.1 16.2 10.8 13.5 5.4	100.0 91.9 86.5 83.8 70.3 62.2 45.9 35.1 21.6
New V	N 37 Ocati	Mean 3.864 onal Technical Ins	Standard I tructors	Deviation
	9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0	1 2 1 5 5 6 3 4 4	3.1 6.3 3.1 3.1 15.6 15.6 18.8 9.4 12.5 12.5	100.0 96.9 90.6 87.5 84.4 68.8 53.1 34.4 25.0 12.5
I	N 32	Mean 3.468	Standard D	eviation

• •

Table 17 (Continued)

•

Scale	Frequency	Percentage	Summed Percentage
Effective	Arts and Science	Instructors	
9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0	3 2 5 5 2 6 5 2 0	9.4 6.3 15.6 15.6 6.3 18.8 15.6 6.3 0.0	100.0 90.6 84.4 78.1 62.5 46.9 40.6 21.9 6.3 0.0
N 32	Mean 4.687	Standard	Deviation 2.364
Effective	Vocational Techni	cal Instructors	
9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0	0 0 3 1 4 13 3 5 6 1	0.0 0.0 8.1 2.7 10.8 37.8 8.1 13.5 16.2 2.7	100.0 100.0 91.9 89.2 78.4 40.5 32.4 18.9 2.7
N 37	Mean 3.459	Standard	Deviation 1.779

Table 1	8.	FIRO-B scales - wanted behavior of area college
		instructors in the area of $control$ ( $C_w$ )

Scale	Frequency	Percentage	Summed Percentage
New Arts and	Science Instruc	tors	
9	1	2.7	100.0
8	2	5.4	97.3
7	1	2.7	91.9
6	1	2.7	89.2
5	8	21.6	86.5
4	2	5.4	64.9
3	10	27.0	59.5
2	5	13.5	32.4
1	5	13.5	18.9
0	2	5.4	5.4
New Vocation	al Technical Ins	tructors	
9	1	3.1	100.0
8	2	6.3	96.9
7	2	6.3	90.6
6	2	6.3	84.4
5	7	21.9	78.1
4	4	12.5	56.3
3	7	21.9	43.8
2	4	12.5	21.9
1 O	2	6.3	9.4
0	T	3.1	3.L
N 32	Mean 4.156	Standard De	viation 2.137

Table 18 (Continued)

.

•

•

Scale	Frequency	Percentage	Summed Percentage
Effective	Arts and Science	Instructors	
9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0	0 3 1 2 1 4 15 3 3 0	0.0 9.4 3.1 6.3 3.1 12.5 46.9 9.4 9.4 0.0	100.0 100.0 90.6 87.5 81.3 78.1 65.5 18.8 9.4 0.0
N 32	Mean 3.687	Standard	Deviation 1.911
9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0	2 1 2 1 0 3 21 2 5 0	5.4 2.7 5.4 2.7 0.0 8.1 56.8 5.4 13.5 0.0	100.0 94.6 91.9 86.5 83.8 83.8 75.7 18.9 13.5 0.0
N 37	Mean 3.513	Standard	Deviation 2.035

Table 19.	FIRO-B scales - expressed behavior of area college
	instructors in the area of affection $(A_e)$

•

S	cale	Frequ	ency	Percentage	Summed Percentage
New	Arts	and Science	Instruc	tors	
	9 8 7	2 3 2		5.4 8.1 5.4	100.0 94.6 86.5
	6 5 4	1 2 6		2.7 5.4 16.2	81.1 78.4 73.0
	3 2 1	14 4 3		37.8 10.8 8.1	56.8 18.9 8.1
	0 N 37	' Mean 4	1.027	0.0 Standard	Deviation 2.199
New Y	Vocat	ional Techni	ical Inst	tructors	
	9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0	0 2 0 2 2 15 5 4 0		0.0 6.3 0.0 6.3 6.3 6.3 46.9 15.6 12.5 0.0	100.0 100.0 93.8 93.8 87.5 81.3 75.0 28.1 12.5 0.0
	N 32	Mean 3	.281	Standard	Deviation 1.736

Table 19 (	(Continued)
------------	-------------

Scale	Frequency	Percentage	Summed Percentage
Vocational T	echnical Instruc	ctors	
9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0	4 3 0 3 15 4 2 2 3 1	10.8 8.1 0.0 8.1 40.5 10.8 5.4 - 5.4 8.1 2.7	100.0 89.2 81.1 81.1 73.0 32.4 21.6 16.2 10.8 2.7
N 37 Arts and Sci	Mean 4.918 ence Instructors	Standard I	Dviation 2.306
9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 0	0 3 1 3 12 5 4 0 2 2	0.0 9.4 3.1 9.4 37.5 15.6 12.5 0.0 6.3 6.3	100.0 100.0 90.6 87.5 78.1 40.6 25.0 12.5 12.5 6.3
N 32	Mean 4.468	Standard D	eviation 1.999

Table	20.	FIRO-B scales - wanted behavior of area college
		instructors in the area of affection $(A_w)$

S	cale	Freque	ncy Perce	entage	Summed Percentage
New	Arts	and Science	Instructors		
	9	3	8.	1	100.0
	8	4	10.	, 8	91.9
	7	2	5.	,4	81.1
	6	4	10.	.8	75.7
	5	12	32.	4	64.9
	4	1	2.	7	32.4
	3	4	10.	8	29.7
	2	1	2.	7	18.9
	Ţ	4	10.	8	16.2
	0	2	5.	4	5.4
New	Vocat	ional Techni	cal Instructors		
	9	1	3.	1	
	7	1	о. З	1	96.9
	6	3	9.	4	93.8
	5	15	46.	9	84.4
	4	5	15.	6	37.5
	3	3	9.	4	21.9
	2	2	6.	3	12.5
	1	1	3.	1	6.3
	0	1	3.	1	3.1
	N 32	Mean 4.4	168 S	tandard Devi	ation 1.676

Table 20 (Continued)

Source of Variation	Degrees of Freedom	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	"F" * Value
Effective New	l	0.105	0.105	0.023
Arts and Science Vocational Technic	al l	0.010	0.010	0.002
Interaction	1	3.252	3.252	0.724
Error	134	601.884	4.491	0.858
Total				
	the second s	·····		
<sup>*</sup> Book F <sub>1,134</sub>	Level .05 .01	"F" V 6.8 3.9	alue . 3 1	
*Book F <sub>1,134</sub> Table 22. Analysis and new,	Level .05 .01 s of variand , arts and s	"F" V 6.8 3.9 ce, inclusi science and	alue . 3 1 on express vocation	sed (effecti al technical
*Book F <sub>1,134</sub> Table 22. Analysis and new, Source of Variation	Level .05 .01 s of variand , arts and s Degrees of Freedom	"F" V 6.8 3.9 ce, inclusi science and Sum of Squares	alue . 3 1 on express vocation Mean Square	sed (effecti al technical "F" * Value
*Book F <sub>1,134</sub> Table 22. Analysis and new, Source of Variation Effective New	Level .05 .01 s of variand , arts and s Degrees of Freedom	"F" V 6.8 3.9 ce, inclusi science and Sum of Squares 16.870	alue . 3 1 on express vocation Mean Square 16.870	sed (effecti al technical "F" * Value 1.940
*Book F <sub>1,134</sub> Table 22. Analysis and new, Source of Variation Effective New Arts and Science Vocational Technica	Level .05 .01 s of variand , arts and s Degrees of Freedom 1 1	"F" V 6.8 3.9 ce, inclusi science and Sum of Squares 16.870 9.608	alue . 3 1 on express vocation Mean Square 16.870 9.608	sed (effecti al technical "F" * Value 1.940 1.105
*Book F <sub>1,134</sub> Table 22. Analysis and new, Source of Variation Effective New Arts and Science Vocational Technica Interaction	Level .05 .01 s of variand arts and s Degrees of Freedom 1 1 1 1	"F" V 6.8 3.9 ce, inclusi science and Sum of Squares 16.870 9.608 21.516	alue . 3 1 on express vocation Mean Square 16.870 9.608 21.516	sed (effecti al technical "F" * Value 1.940 1.105 2.475
*Book F <sub>1,134</sub> Table 22. Analysis and new, Source of Variation Effective New Arts and Science Vocational Technica Interaction Error	Level .05 .01 s of variand arts and s Degrees of Freedom 1 1 1 1 1 1	"F" V 6.8 3.9 ce, inclusi science and Sum of Squares 16.870 9.608 21.516 1164.911	alue . 3 1 on express vocation Mean Square 16.870 9.608 21.516 8.693	sed (effecti al technical "F" * Value 1.940 1.105 2.475 0.882

Table 21. Analysis of variance, inclusion expressed (effective and new, arts and science and vocational technical)

<sup>Book F</sup> 1,134	Level .05	"F" Value 6.83	•
	.01	3.91	

Source of Variation	Degrees of Freedom	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	"F" * Value
Effective New	1	6.487	6.487	0.959
Arts and Science Vocational Technic	al l	15.135	15.135	2.238
Interaction	1	15.297	15.297	2.262
Error	134	905.968	6.760	0.887
Total				
*Book F1,134	Level .05	"F" Va 6.8 3.9	lue . 33	
			-	
Table 24. Analysis and new Source of Variation	s of varianc , arts and s  Degrees of Freedom	e, control cience and Sum of Squares	wanted ( vocation Mean Square	effective al technical "F" * Value
Table 24. Analysis and new Source of Variation	s of varianc , arts and s Degrees of Freedom	e, control cience and Sum of Squares	wanted ( vocation Mean Square	effective al technical "F" * Value
Table 24. Analysis and new Source of Variation Effective New	s of varianc , arts and s Degrees of Freedom 1	se, control cience and Sum of Squares 22.573	wanted ( vocation Mean Square 22.573	(effective al technical "F" * Value 4.882*
Table 24. Analysis and newSource of VariationEffective NewArts and Science Vocational Technica	s of varianc , arts and s Degrees of Freedom 1 al 1	22.573 25.877	- wanted ( vocation Mean Square 22.573 25.877	effective al technical "F" * Value 4.882* 5.597*
Table 24. Analysis   and new   Source of   Variation   Effective   New   Arts and Science   Jocational Technica   Interaction	s of varianc , arts and s Degrees of Freedom 1 al 1 1	e, control cience and Sum of Squares 22.573 25.877 29.165	- wanted ( vocation Mean Square 22.573 25.877 29.165	effective al technical "F" * Value 4.882* 5.597* 6.308*
Table 24. Analysis and new Source of Variation Effective New Arts and Science Vocational Technica Interaction Error	s of varianc , arts and s Degrees of Freedom 1 al 1 1 134	22.573 25.877 29.165 619.472	- wanted ( vocation Mean Square 22.573 25.877 29.165 4.622	effective al technical "F" * Value* 4.882* 5.597* 6.308* 2.437
Table 24. Analysis and new Source of Variation Effective New Arts and Science Jocational Technics Interaction Error	s of varianc , arts and s Degrees of Freedom 1 al 1 1 134	e, control cience and Sum of Squares 22.573 25.877 29.165 619.472	- wanted ( vocation Mean Square 22.573 25.877 29.165 4.622	effective al technical "F" * Value 4.882* 5.597* 6.308* 2.437
Table 24. Analysis and new Source of Variation Effective New Arts and Science Vocational Technica Interaction Error Potal * Book F <sub>1,134</sub>	s of varianc , arts and s Degrees of Freedom 1 al 1 134 Leve:	e, control cience and Sum of Squares 22.573 25.877 29.165 619.472	Wanted ( Vocation Mean Square 22.573 25.877 29.165 4.622 Value	effective al technical "F" * Value 4.882* 5.597* 6.308* 2.437

Table 23. Analysis of variance, control expressed (effective and new, arts and science and vocational technical)

.

.

	ares and .		V00000101	
Source of Variation	Degrees of Freedom	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	"F" Value <sup>*</sup>
Effective New	1	1.978	1.978	0.845
Arts and Science Vocational Technica	1 1	0.519	0.519	0.127
Interaction	l	2.805	2.805	0.689
Error	134	545.559	4.071	0.845
Total				
*Book F <sub>1,134</sub>	Level .05 .01	"F" Val 6.83 3.93	Lue . 3 L	
Table 26. Analysis and new,	of varianc arts and s	e, affectio	on wanted vocation	(effective al technical)
Variation	Degrees of Freedom	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	Value*
Effective New	1	2.337	2.337	0.482
Arts and Science Vocational Technica	1 1	3.477	3.477	0.717
Interaction	1	5.758	5.758	1.187
Error	134	649.721	4.848	0.404
fotal				
*Book F <sub>1,134</sub>	Level .05 .01	"F" Value 6.83 3.91	•	

Table 25. Analysis of variance, affection expressed (effective and new, arts and science and vocational technical)